
 

 

 

 
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF 
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 
A hybrid meeting of the CABINET will be held on 

Monday, 21st November, 2022 at 1.00 pm 
 

Contact: Hannah Williams - Council Business Unit (Tel No. 07385401954) 

 

 
Councillors and members of the public wishing to request the facility to 
address the Cabinet on any of the business as listed below, must request to do 
so by 5pm on the Thursday, 17 November 2022 Councillors and Members of 
the public should stipulate if this address will be in the medium of English or 
Welsh. 
It must be noted that the facility to address the Cabinet is at the discretion of 
the Chair and each request will be considered based on the agenda items 
being considered, the public interest/interest of the member in each matter and 
the demands of the business on that day. To make such a request please 
email:- ExecutiveandRegulatoryBusinessUnit@rctcbc.gov.uk 
 

It is the intention to live stream this meeting, details of which can be accessed here 
 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

1. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 To receive disclosures of personal interest from Members in accordance 
with the Code of Conduct. 
 
Note: 
 

1. Members are requested to identify the item number and subject 
matter that their interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest; and 

2. Where Members withdraw from a meeting as a consequence of 
the disclosure of a prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chairman when they leave. 

 

   

2. MINUTES   

 To receive the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on the 7th November 
2022 as an accurate record. 

 

  (Pages 5 - 8) 

mailto:ExecutiveandRegulatoryBusinessUnit@rctcbc.gov.uk
https://rctcbc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 

3. CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2021-2022   

  
To receive the report of the Service Director, Democratic Services and 
Communication, which provides Cabinet with the Corporate Parenting 
Board Annal Report for the 2021-2022 Municipal Year. 

 

  (Pages 9 - 38) 

4. COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT   

 To receive the report of the Director of Finance and Digital Services to 
provide Members with an overview of the Council’s performance, both 
from a financial and operational perspective, based on the first six 
months of this financial year (to the 30th September 2022). 

 

  (Pages 39 - 72) 

5. TO CONSIDER PASSING THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION:   

 “That the press and public be excluded from the meeting under Section 
100A(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) for the following 
items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
the exempt information as defined in paragraph 14 of Part 4 of the 
Schedule 12A of the Act”. 

 

   

6. CORPORATE ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2018-2023 INTERIM 
UPDATE  

 

 To receive the report of the Director, Corporate Estates, which provides 
Cabinet with progress against the key themes of the Corporate Asset 
Management Plan 2018/23.  

 

  (Pages 73 - 214) 

7. URGENT ITEMS   

 To consider any urgent business as the Chairman feels appropriate.  

   

 
 

Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication 
 



 

 

Circulation:- 
 
Councillors: Councillor A Morgan (Chair) 

Councillor M Webber (Deputy Chair) 
Councillor G Caple 
Councillor A Crimmings 
Councillor R Lewis 
Councillor C Leyshon 
Councillor M Norris 
Councillor B Harris 

 
Officers: Chris Bradshaw, Chief Executive 

Barrie Davies, Director of Finance & Digital Services 
Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services 
Louise Davies, Director, Public Health, Protection and Community 
Services 
Richard Evans, Director of Human Resources 
Simon Gale, Director of Prosperity & Development 
Paul Griffiths, Service Director – Finance & Improvement Services 
Christian Hanagan, Service Director of Democratic Services & 
Communication 
Derek James, Service Director – Prosperity & Development 
Paul Mee, Group Director Community & Children's Services 
David Powell, Director of Corporate Estates 
Andy Wilkins, Director of Legal Services 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CABINET CYNGOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

 CABINET 

Cofnodion o gyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd   Monday, 7 November 2022 am 2.00 pm. 
 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol - Cabinet Aelodau oedd yn bresennol:-:- 
 

Councillor A Morgan (Chair) 
 

Councillor M Webber Councillor G Caple 
Councillor A Crimmings Councillor R Lewis 

Councillor C Leyshon Councillor M Norris 
Councillor B Harris  

 
 

Swyddogion oedd yn bresennol 
 

Mr C Bradshaw, Chief Executive 
Mr B Davies, Director of Finance & Digital Services 

Ms G Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services 
Mr R Evans, Director of Human Resources 

Mr C Hanagan, Service Director of Democratic Services & Communication 
Mr P Mee, Group Director Community & Children's Services 

Mr A Wilkins, Director of Legal Services 
Ms A Richards, Temporary Service Director - 21st Century Schools and Transformation 

 
 

67   Declaration of Interest  
 

 

 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, there were no declarations 
made pertaining to the agenda. 
 

 

68   Minutes  
 

 

 The Cabinet RESOLVED to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 17th 
October 2022. 
 

 

69   21st Century Schools Programme: Basic Need Accommodation Additional 
Classrooms at Y Pant Comprehensive School  
 

 

 The Service Director of 21st Century Schools and Transformation, provided the 
Cabinet with an update on the provision of additional teaching accommodation 
at Y Pant, following the report presented to Cabinet on 13th December 2021 
highlighting the increasing pressures on pupil numbers in the south of the 
County Borough. 
 
The Service Director recommended that consideration be given to agree to the 
construction of the two-storey teaching block at Y Pant with the phased 
programme to fit out the first floor initially and subsequently the ground floor 
when the capacity demands at the school dictate. The proposal would allow the 
Council to continue to deliver on its statutory duty to provide the appropriate 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

number of school places in the right locations. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Education, Youth Participation & Welsh Language 
noted that the scope of the proposed scheme had changed which had impacted 
on the project cost and the delivery programme. 
 
The Cabinet Member commented that Y Pant was an attractive school, made 
more attractive by its transformation following investment in 2018. It was noted 
that the catchment area was an area of significant housing and population 
growth, with an increase in demand of school places forecast. The Cabinet 
Member concluded and commented that the proposal before Members was cost 
effective, sustainable and would help the school meet the demand of current and 
future admission numbers. 
 
The Leader spoke in support of the proposals and the importance of minimising 
the use of portacabins when there are short term surges of cohorts.  The was 
pleased with the future proofing of the schools in terms of growth and advised 
that the longer-term position shows the three comprehensive schools within the 
area are close to capacity, largely due to the growth in population within the 
southern area of the County. 
 
The Deputy Leader echoed previous comments and stated that the significant 
housing growth in the south of the County Borough had resulted in high demand 
for school places. 
 
The Cabinet RESOLVED: 

1. To note the changes that impact upon school places as detailed within 
the report; 

2. To approve the changes to the scope of the project; and 
3. To approve the increase in the capital investment to build a new two-

storey teaching block at Y Pant. 
 

70   Council Tax Base 2023-2024  
 

 

 The Head of the Revenues and Benefits Service provided Cabinet with the 
report which formally set the Council Tax Base for the financial year 2023/24. 
 
The officer advised that the Council Tax Base calculated for 2023/24 was 
£80,182.87 and proposed that the collection rate was estimated to be 97.25%, 
which produced a net Council Tax Base of £77,977.84.  It was explained that for 
every £1 levied in Council Tax next year, a sum of £77,978 would be generated 
to meet the budget requirement of the Council. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Corporate Services was happy to 
support the recommendations contained within the report. 
 
The Deputy Leader noted that the report contained important information for the 
Community Councils when setting their budgets. 
 
The Leader thanked the officer for the report and the Cabinet RESOLVED: 

1. That in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995 as amended, the amount calculated by 
the Council as its net tax base for the financial year 2023/24, shall be 
£77,977.84; and 

2. That for each defined community area of the County Borough, the 

 

Page 6



 

2023/24 tax base for Council Tax setting purposes, shall be as set out at 
Appendix 1. 

 
71   Leader's Scheme of Delegation - 3A  

 
 

 The Cabinet RESOLVED to note the changes to the Leader’s Scheme of 
Delegation. 
 

 

 
 

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 2.15 pm Cllr A Morgan 

Cadeirydd. 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

CABINET 

 

21st NOVEMBER 2022 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD – ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 

 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & 

COMMUNICATION 

 

Author: Yula Kampouropoulou – Committee Support Officer- Democratic 
Services – 07747 485569 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide Cabinet with the draft Annual 

Report of the Corporate Parenting Board for the Municipal Year 
2021/22. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Note the content of the report. 
 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 Under the Leader’s Scheme of Delegation (the 3A) the Corporate 

Parenting Board, comprising of a cross party membership was formed 
to take the lead in ensuring that the Council fulfils its responsibilities as 
corporate parent’s to children who are looked after and formulate 
Council policy in respect of children who are looked after and children 
in need. 

 
3.2 As part of the Board’s Terms of reference, the Board must report its 

work to the Cabinet and it has been agreed that this will take the form 
of an Annual Report. 

 

4. BACKGROUND 

 
4.1 The first Annual Report for the Corporate Parenting Board was 

produced for the 2015/16 Municipal Year. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



4.2 The contents of the report acted as a useful basis for a number of 
upcoming topics which the Members felt needed particular attention in 
the 2016/17 Municipal Year. 

 
4.3 This is the seventh Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Board, 

which seeks to provide a summary of the role and work of the Board 
undertaken during the 2021/22 Municipal Year and its ambitions going 
forward.  The report is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

5. THE WORK OF THE CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 2021-22 

 
5.1 During the 2021-22 Municipal Year, the Corporate Parenting Board 

considered the following range of reports, which led to challenging 
discussions: 

 

• Regulation 73 Reports 

• Complaints & Compliments 

• Advocacy  

• Employment, Education and Training Programmes for CLA 

• Independent Reviewing Officer Report 

• RCT Forum 

• Overview of the Community Wellbeing and Resilience Service 

• CLA Educational Outcomes Improvement Strategy 

• Cwm Taf Regional Fostering Front Door Update 

• Miskin Annual Report  

• Therapeutic Families Team Annual Report  

• Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Regional Adoption Annual Report  

• Fostering Service Quality of Care Report  

• Housing Offer for Care Leavers 

• One Child Practice Review 
 

5.3 The Corporate Parenting Board has developed a robust and varied 
Work Programme for the 2022-23 Municipal Year, to continue good 
practice and to enhance transparency. Members can also raise any 
matters that they would like to add to the programme during the year. 

 
5.4 In addition to its standard items, the following key elements of focus 

have been identified by the Corporate Parenting Board for the 2022-23 
Municipal Year: 

 

• The review of performance data 

• Elected Member Training opportunities 

• Education, Employment and Training Opportunities for CLA 

• The Mental Health and Wellbeing of Young People who are Looked 
After and Care Leavers 

• Strengthening the link with young people – invitations to meetings 
to be sent when appropriate 

Page 10



• Children Looked After Prevention Strategy 

• Monitoring of Independent Sector Placements 

• Frontline Visits/Virtual meetings for Members 
 

5. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS / SOCIO-ECONOMIC 

DUTY 

 
5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment is not needed because the contents of 

the report are for information purposes only. 

 

6. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT 

 
6.1 There is no consultation required for this report. 
 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 
7.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report. 
 

8. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 A Welsh Language Impact Assessment is not needed because the 

contents of the report are for information purposes only. 

 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  

 
9.1 The report has been prepared in accordance with Rhondda Cynon Taf 

County Borough Council’s constitution.  
 

10. LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN / OTHER 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES/ FUTURE GENERATIONS – 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT. 
 
10.1 The work of the Corporate Parenting Board links directly to the 

Council’s Corporate Plan priority – ‘Rhondda Cynon Taf’s Children will 
receive a great start in life...’ 

 
10.2 In respect of the Well-being of Future Generations Act, the work of the 

Corporate Parenting Board meets the Five Ways of Working: 
 

1. Working together with other partners to deliver objectives 
The Corporate Parenting Board considers reports and presentations 
from various service areas of the Council. Members are aware that a 
number of partners and areas must contribute to tackle the range of 
different issues, which young people may experience, such as mental 
health, education and budgeting. 
 

2. Involving those with an interest and seeking their views 

Page 11



The Corporate Parenting Board provide looked after young people and 
care leavers in RCT with the opportunity to attend meetings and have 
their voice heard. It allows them to promote their life experiences at a 
strategic, policy and legislative level and provides Members with the 
chance to hear first-hand experiences.  

 
 

11. CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 The Corporate Parenting Board Annual report outlines the work 

undertaken in the 2021/22 Municipal Year and features the priority 
areas to consider moving forward, which will ensure that the Council 
provides continuous improvement to the services that it delivers for its 
children and young people within the Looked After System. 

 

Page 12



RHONDDA CYNON TAF 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT  
2021/2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



 2 

 

CONTENTS 

 

 
Chair Foreword 
  

3 - 4 

 
About the Corporate Parenting Board 

• Relevant Legislation 

• Meet the Corporate Parenting Board 

• Terms of Reference 

• The Vision of the Corporate Parenting Board 
  

5 - 9 

 
Children Looked After within RCT  
  

10 - 11 

Reports considered by the Corporate Parenting Board ~ 

• Regulation 73 Reports 

• Complaints & Compliments 

• Advocacy  

• Independent Reviewing Officer Update  

• RCT Forum 

• Overview of the Community Wellbeing and Resilience Service  

• Cwm Taf Regional Fostering Front Door  

• Children Looked after 2021-22 data 

• Children Looked After Website advancements   

• Miskin  

• Therapeutic Families Team  

• Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Regional Adoption Annual Report  

• Fostering Service Quality of Care Annual Report 

• Young Carers Annual Report 2021-22 

• Registered Childcare Provision Annual Report 2020-21 

• Housing Offer for Care Leavers  

• Child Practice Review  
  

12 – 19 

 

 
Corporate Parenting Board – Moving Forward  
  

20 – 23 

 
Corporate Parenting Board Work Programme 2022/23 
 

24 - 25 

 
Conclusion  

26 

Page 14



 3 

 

FOREWORD 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Councillor Christina Leyshon  
Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
Chair of the Corporate Parenting Board 

 
It is with great pleasure, that I present to you the Corporate Parenting Board Annual 
Report which provides a summary of the role and work undertaken by the Board in the 
2021/22 Municipal Year. 
 
The Corporate Parenting Board is comprised of elected Members, and Officers who 
meet regularly as critical friends to support, challenges and strive for stronger 
collaborative working. The Board creates a non-judgemental environment were 
Officers and Members can freely voice their opinions to ensure the best possible 
outcomes for the children and young people who are looked after in RCT. 
 
As a Board we have sought to understand the lived experiences of children growing 
up in the care of the Council and of care experienced young people to ensure they are 
safe, healthy, and leading happy and fulfilling lives. Feedback from Children and young 
people we receive from various means plays an integral part in RCT’s improvement 
journey. Our children and young people’s voices help us to keep focused at ground 
level and influence the development of services the right way.  
 
As a Council it is vital that we take steps to be the best corporate parent and corporate 
family that we can be. I am committed to doing everything I can to support children 
and care leavers so they can benefit from the many opportunities our Borough has to 
offer.  
 
During the 2021/22 Municipal Year, the Corporate Parenting Board have, considered 
a plethora of reports, which were inclusive of various stories of success. Regular 
updates were more important than ever as the Corporate Parenting Board sought 
assurance that both staff and young people were provided with support. The continued 
concerns in relation to the Pandemic and emerging concerns linked to its persistence 
means that the emotional and physical welfare of all young people has been a key 

Page 15



 4 

 

priority for the Council. We have endeavoured to ensure the pandemic has not 
prevented the continuation of key services and we remain committed to ensuring that 
the children and young people of Rhondda Cynon Taf are safe from harm and given 
the care and support that they deserve, regardless of numbers.  
 
As such, I would like to take this opportunity to extend my thanks to all Members of 
the Corporate Parenting Board, both new and longstanding; and, of course, to the 
Officers for their ongoing support.  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



 5 

 

WHAT IS THE CORPORATE PARENTING 

BOARD? 

The concept of Corporate Parenting was introduced in 1998 by the then Secretary of 
State for Health, Frank Dobson, who outlined the duties of members towards Children 
who are Looked After: “For children who are looked after, your council has a legal and 
moral duty to try to provide the kind of loyal support that any good parents would give 
to their children…you should do your utmost to make sure that those children in public 
care get a good start in life…”  
 
 

LEGISLATION 

▪ Chapter 6 of the WLGA’s Corporate Parenting Workbook states:  

You can make sure there is a dedicated group of Councillors who focus specially on these 

corporate parenting responsibilities. It might be called a Panel, or a Scrutiny subcommittee. 

Whatever it is called, it should: 

• meet regularly and often enough to carry out the three central functions we identify here 

effectively 

• bring all those who contribute to Corporate Parenting together and draw on their 

experience and wisdom  

• talk with and listen to groups of our children, who are encouraged and helped to speak out 

- theirs are the most important voices  

• interrogate all relevant performance and management information  

• where possible, compare the Council’s performance with other similar authorities, and look 

at trends over time  

• identify where things are not good enough, and ask for remedial action from officers, 

partner agencies, or the Council itself  

• track that the action is taken and is effective, and escalate if not  

• focus special attention on the most vulnerable children and young people, and seek to 

ensure their safety and well-being 

 

▪ The goals set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015: - 

 

1. A more Equal Wales - A society that enables people to fulfil their 

potential no matter what their background or circumstances (including 

their socio-economic circumstances); 

 

Page 17

https://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=990
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/


 6 

 

2. A Healthier Wales - A society in which people’s physical and mental well-

being is maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit 

future health are understood; and 

 

3. A Wales of Cohesive Communities - Attractive, safe, viable and well-

connected. 

 

▪ The Council’s Corporate Plan ‘Making a Difference’ 2020-2024, which 

is guided by the Vision of making Rhondda Cynon Taf “the best place 

in Wales to live, work and play, where people and businesses are 

independent, healthy and prosperous. 

 

1. PRIORITY: Ensuring PEOPLE: are independent, healthy, and 
successful - Improving services for children and young people and 
ensuring the needs of children are considered in everything we do. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/CorporatePlan2020/CorporatePlan2020ENGFINAL.pdf


 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     
 

      

 

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor J Rosser        Councillor Geraint Hopkins    Councillor Sharon Rees 

*Following the departure of Councillor J Rosser and Councillor Geraint Hopkins 

from Cabinet in 2021, Councillor G Caple and Councillor J Bonetto were 

appointed to the Corporate Parenting Board for remainder of the Municipal 

Year. 

MEET THE CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 

 

 
 

Councillor C Leyshon 
(Chair)  

 

 

 
 

Councillor G Caple 
(Vice-Chair) 

 
  Councillor E Griffiths  

 
 

Councillor S Rees-Owen 

 
 

Councillor J Bonetto  

 
 

Councillor L Hooper  
 

 

  

 

 
 

 
 
 

“Councillors as Corporate Parents have an important role to play in ensuring that 
every child in their Council’s care receives the best care possible. They should be 
striving to provide the level of care they would be happy for their own children to 

receive.” (Sally Holland, Children’s Commissioner for Wales.) 
 

Page 19



 8 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

• To take the lead in ensuring that the Council fulfils its responsibilities as 
corporate parent to children who are looked after and formulate Council 
policy in respect of children who are looked after and children in need. 
 

• To ensure that all Groups and divisions within the Council work together in 
order to promote best outcomes for children who are looked after and 
children in need. 
 

• To promote effective relationships with key partner agencies in the best 
interests of children who are looked after and children in need. 
 

• To monitor the implementation of the Action Plan arising from the Best 
Value Review of Services to children looked after, in addition to monitoring 
outcomes for children looked after and children in need. 

• To consider the outcomes and promote positive learning practices 
following consideration of Child Practice Reviews. 
 

• In accordance with HMIP to routinely review the offending rates of CLA by 
gender to ensure that the Corporate Parenting Board understand patterns 
of offending by girls and are able to take actions to address where 
necessary. 

 

• To consider the impact of relevant other systems/agencies (e.g., health, 
courts, schools) and see how these could be improved. 

 

• To seek the views of children looked after - the advocacy service will be 
asked to facilitate. 

 

• To invite representatives from other agencies to attend as appropriate. 
 

• To report directly to Cabinet through an Annual report of the Board. 

Page 20



 9 

 

Vision of the Corporate Parenting Board  

The role of the corporate parent is to seek for children in public care the outcomes 

every good parent would want for their own children.  The local authority has a 

legal and moral duty to provide support to the children it is responsible for looking 

after. 

All Elected Members must be confident that the children who are looked after 

within RCT: 

• Are safe and healthy; 

• Have good homes in a secure and caring environment; 

• Are placed within the local authority area, close to their homes and 
communities, as far as is possible; 

• Have good experiences of education and can fulfill their potential; 

• Are not being drawn into antisocial behavior; 

• Are developing socially and emotionally; 

• Are provided with help to cope with the problems they have in growing 
up; 

• Are prepared for their transition to adulthood; 

• Have ambitions for themselves and are supported to access leisure and 
hobbies; 

• Are helped to achieve to the maximum of their ability; 

• Have high aspirations and can show pride in their achievements; and 

• Are provided with support when they need it. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 10 

 

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER IN 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF  

Children Looked After remains a key priority and the Council continues to strive for a 

safe reduction in Children Looked After numbers and to deliver the best possible 

outcomes for the children and young people. 

As at the 31st March 2022, there were a total of 655 children and young people within 

the Local Authority’s care. The demographic has been broken down and compared to 

that of the previous year in the tables below. 

Children Looked After by Age Group 
   

Age Band Total as at 31/03/2022 Total as at 31/03/2021 
 

0-3 99 124 

4-7 111 121 

8-11 166 170 
 

12-14 130 144 
 

15 49 41 
 

16 46 47 
 

17 54 47 
 

Total 655 694  

 
Figures show that the highest age band remains at 8 - 11 years. 
 
 
Children Looked After by Gender 
  

Gender Total as at 31/ 03/ 2022 Total as at 31/03/21 

Female 284 297 

Male 371 397 

Total 655 694 

 

The Gender figures show that as at 31st March 2022, 86 more males than females 

remain within the Local Authority’s care, which is less than the figures from March 

2021, where there were 100 more males than females.  

 

 

Page 22



 11 

 

Children Looked After by Placement Type 
   

CLA Placement Type 

Total as at 
31/03/2022 

Total as at 
31/03/2021 

Independent Sector Foster 
Placement 

119 139 

RCT Foster Carers 153 167 

RCT Relative Foster Carers 229 234 

Placed for Adoption 17 16 

Placed with Parents 66 73 

Education Placement 2 2 

Other Lodgings 6 1 

Independent Sector 
Residential Sector 

52 50 

RCT Residential Care 10 11 

Secure 1 1 

Total 655 694 

 

It is recognised that each young person’s needs are unique and that the most suitable 

placement type is unique to the individual bearing in mind their background, wishes 

and circumstances . 

The data shows that most children and young people within Rhondda Cynon Taf are 

placed in foster placements, and in particular, with Relative Foster Carers.  

Where safe and possible to do so, children and young people are placed with their 

parents. 

It is noted that a key priority of the Regional Adoption Collaboration is to increase its 

supply of adopters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 12 

 

UPDATES TO THE CORPORATE 

PARENTING BOARD 

REGULATION 73 REPORTS 

Regular updates are presented to the Corporate Parenting Board in respect of the 

current position of the residential Children’s Homes and respite service. The reports 

are exempt from the public to ensure that the Board receive a detailed picture of the 

goings on at each home, and are inclusive of case studies, which inform us of the 

everyday challenges faced by our hardworking staff, any areas of concern and, of 

course, the wellbeing of the children who occupy the homes. 

Each of the reports received during the Municipal Year, provided the Corporate 

Parenting Board with honest and reliable feedback from the young people who occupy 

the homes and further insight into the challenges associated with looking after and 

trying to develop young people who have been disadvantaged. 

 

SOCIAL SERVICES COMPLAINTS AND COMPLIMENTS 

The Corporate Parenting Board receives quarterly updates in respect of the operation 
and effectiveness of the statutory Social Services complaints and compliments 
procedure. At each meeting, Members monitor the number of complaints received, the 
nature of the complaints and any lessons learnt, along with noting those enquiries 
received from Elected Members, A.M’s and M.P’s. 

The importance of feedback from those who use the services is invaluable to the 
Corporate Parenting Board. During the year, Members were provided with detailed 
and honest feedback in response to questions around the updates. It was pleasing to 
note that the service had been used by Elected Members and A.M and M.P 
colleagues, which builds upon the already strong relationship with officers. 

 

ADVOCACY 

Following the appointment of Tros Gynnal Plant (TGP) Cymru as the Local Authority’s 

advocacy service, the Corporate Parenting Board have received regular and 

informative updates at its meetings. The Board are provided with a detailed breakdown 

of issues by age, gender, referral source and type, along with information on the take 

up of the active offer. This information enables both TGP Cymru and Children Services 

to discuss issues that affect service delivery in the community on a strategic level and 

to work in partnership to provide improved and better outcomes.  

Page 24



 13 

 

The Board Members were assured to hear during the November 2021 update, that a 

more streamlined approach to risk assessments were now being taken forward to 

reduce delays in accessing the advocacy service in the future. Members also heard of 

the complexities of the role of an advocate representing young people and officers 

reassured that the communication between the Authority and the advocacy service 

will continue to be built upon.  

More information on the services provided by Tros Gynnal Plant (TGP) Cymru can be 

found here. 

 

INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER UPDATES 

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (referred to as the SSWB Act) 

and the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (Wales) Regulations 2015 and 

16 (referred to as the CPPCR Regulations) provide legislation and guidance pertaining 

to the role and functions of an Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO). The Adoption 

and Children Act 2002 requires the Local Authority to appoint Independent Reviewing 

Officers to conduct reviews for Children who are Looked After and monitor the Local 

Authority’s performance in relation to implementing the care plans for individual 

children. As such, regular reports are presented to the Board to monitor the activities 

of the IRO service.  

 

RCT FORUM 

 

The RCT Forum provides looked after young people and care leavers in RCT with 

opportunities to have their voice heard and to enable their life experiences to 

contribute at a strategic, policy and legislative level both locally and nationally.   

During the 2021/22 Municipal Year, the RCT Forum attended meetings of the 

Corporate Parenting Board to provide a summary of activities being undertaken. The 

Forum ran sessions to engage with new Members of the group; in addition to 

networking with several external organisations working with care leavers throughout 

the Local Authority. Key themes were identified which were impacting individuals 

within the RCT area. These included difficulties in maintaining healthy relationships, 

independent living, and overall feelings of isolation. During the next quarter the Forum 

the Board would like to receive further information. 

The Board were reassured of the effectiveness of the services offered by RCT Forum 

through a young person representative who highlighted the positive experiences they 

have had as part of the group and the impact on their life. The young person spoke 

positively of the activities undertaken as part of the forum which provided access 

to community networks, independence, and the attainment of new skills. The 

young person also spoke of the positive role of the forum through the pandemic, 

Page 25

https://www.tgpcymru.org.uk/
https://www.tgpcymru.org.uk/


 14 

 

with the continued support to young people across RCT.  

  

Receiving such feedback on the services provided by the Council for Children who are 

Looked After and care leavers to the Board is fundamental in helping the Board ensure 

that the provisions and support provided by the Council are adding benefit to the 

people that require them, and to ensure that the young people within the service are 

treated as equal to those young people outside of the service. 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE COMMUNITY WELLBEING AND 

RESILLIENCE SERVICE 
 
 
In November 2017, the Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB) agreed to work with the 

Welsh Government to undertake a joint collaborative approach to redesigning Early 

Years arrangements across Cwm Taf. The aim of the work was to reconstruct the 

Early Years and Flying Start service, to create an integrated delivery model.  

Receiving updates allows the Corporate Parenting Board to compare the annual data 

and to monitor the progress and impact of the service. 

More information on the Resilient Families Service can be accessed here. 

CWM TAF REGIONAL FOSTERING FRONT DOOR 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board were informed of two significant developments which 

were made during the 2021/22 Municipal year. Due to challenges with the recruitment 

of mainstream foster carers, it was confirmed that Bridgend County Borough Council 

has joined the Regional Front Door to further expand on the collaboration and share 

resources and good practice. As of now 3 Local Authorities, RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydful 

CBC and Bridgend CBC have all confirmed dedication towards foster carer 

recruitment. The primary objective of the team is to achieve a net gain in approved 

mainstream foster carers. 

The launch of Foster Wales was a huge accomplishment which was achieved through 

the collaboration of all 22 Local Authorities within Wales. The aim of the project is 

targeted towards attracting younger generation to become foster carers.  

In order to monitor the progress of the service, the Corporate Parenting Board receive 

an analysis of key performance data and details on the future developments of the 

service. 

More information on the Cwm Taf Regional Fostering Front Door service can be 

accessed here. 

Page 26

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s30509/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s33214/Cwm%20Taf%20Regional%20Front%20Door%202022.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s33214/Cwm%20Taf%20Regional%20Front%20Door%202022.pdf?LLL=0


 15 

 

 

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER ACADEMIC DATA 2021-2022 

DATA  

 
It is noted that RCT has many Children Looked After, in comparison to other Local 

Authorities and that there are various risk factors which can adversely impact the 

educational outcomes of Children Looked After. Notwithstanding that, improving the 

educational attainment of Children Looked After remains a key focus of the Corporate 

Parenting Board and each year, Members receive performance data for the previous 

academic year. 

Summary of Data for the academic year 2020-2021* 

1. Incidents of Fixed Term (FT) Exclusions in Autumn and Spring term 

2020/2021 involving RCT Children who are Looked After:  

Source: Plasc Jan 21 (33,708) 

 

2. Attendance Levels of Children who are Looked between 02/09/2020 and 

20/07/2021 compared with Non CLA: 

 

Overall attendance in RCT schools 

CLA pupils Non CLA pupils 

89.9% 87% 

Primary school attendance 

93.1% 91.1% 

Secondary school attendance 

86.1% 85.4% 

 

3. In response to the disrupted educational experience due to COVID -19, 

PDG LAC money provided an offer of online tuition in Maths or English for 

all Key Stage 4 pupils taking exams.  Pupils who engaged with tuition in 

Years 10 and 11: 

 

 

Cohort Number of FT 
exclusions 

% of students 
who received 
a FT 
exclusion  

Cohort of 
pupils of 
statutory 
school age 

% of statutory 
school aged 
pupils 
excluded  

CLA 28 15 455 3.20% 

Non CLA 887 614 33220 1.85% 

Page 27



 16 

 

Year group No of pupils participating 

10 23 OUT OF 31 eligible pupils 

11 16 out of 25 eligible pupils  

 

*Note: Any overall data for the academic year 2020 – 2021 needs to be viewed with caution 

due to the impact of school closures in Summer Term 2021 in response to the COVID-19 

pandemic which means that direct comparisons with previous academic years are not 

possible.   

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER WEBSITE ADVANCMENTS 
 

the Corporate Parenting Board received an update on the advancements made on the 
Children Looked after 2Side Website. The website is now hosted by the Wicid.TV and 
has become more interactive and has been developed to be more targeted to children 
and young people’s needs within RCT. A range of services have been introduced such 
as an online Consultation document which allows young people to post their reviews 
on aspects they are enjoying and areas for improvement. Receiving such feedback 
permits the team to make review services and attract more children and young people 
to the website.  

More information on the Children Looked After Website can be accessed here 

 

MISKIN 

 

Miskin delivers intensive family focused evidence-based interventions, which aim to 

improve parenting capacity to enable families to care for their children with the 

minimum statutory intervention.  Services are delivered through individual, family, 

group work and holiday programmes. 

 

The focus of the Service includes: 

• High level of need, and if intensive supports are not provided the child/children 
are at risk of being accommodated; 

• Family need an intensive period of support for child/children to return to their 
care;  

• High level of assessed need for a child looked after, risk of placement 
breakdown without intensive support; and 

• Child looked after requires support to return from an out of county placement to 
either home or a more local placement. 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board receive annual updates in respect of the Miskin 

service, to monitor the effectiveness of the service, particularly at a time when demand 

exceeds capacity. 

 

Page 28

https://www.yeps.wales/


 17 

 

THERAPEUTIC FAMILIES TEAM 

 
 
The Therapeutic Families Team (TFT) is a multidisciplinary team, created to offer 
consultation, therapeutic assessments and interventions to children and families in 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  
 
The Team works with: 

• Families assessed as high need where support from the Families Therapeutic 
Team would add value to the Resilient Families Service intervention; 

• Family receiving a service from statutory Children's Services and child/ren 
assessed as being at risk of becoming Children Looked After (CLA);  
Children Looked After whose placement has been assessed as being at risk of 
breakdown where therapeutic support could promote placement stability; 

• Children Looked After who require therapeutic support to assist in a return 
home to live with parents/family/friends or live independently; 

• Children Looked After placed out of county who require therapeutic support to 
assist in moving to local placements; and 

• Families assessed as high need where support from the Families Therapeutic 
Team would add value to the statutory Children's Services intervention. 

 
The Corporate Parenting Board received the second annual report of the Therapeutic 
Families Team which provided a detail breakdown of the services provided to families 
such as consultations, therapeutic assessments and interventions for children and 
families in RCT. The Board was reassured of the Therapeutic Families Team 
improvements since its inaugural year by supporting and engaging with families and 
producing positive outcomes.  

 

VALE, VALLEYS & CARDIFF REGIONAL ADOPTION 

ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 
 
 
Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) provides a regional adoption 
service to the Vale of Glamorgan Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, 
Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council.  VVC is one of the 
five regional Collaboratives which form part of the National Adoption Service in Wales 
(NAS). All adoption services are required to provide an annual review of their service 
as set out in Regulation 22 of the Local Authority Adoption Service (Wales) 
Regulations 2007. 
 
The Board were supplied with the sixth VCC annual report which covers the periods 
1st April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  
The supply of adopters remains a challenge for Local Authorities and as such, 
receiving the annual data and strategies for improvement of the Regional Adoption 
Service is vital to the Corporate Parenting Board.  

The report was also considered in depth by the Council’s Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 29

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32532/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s32532/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0


 18 

 

 

FOSTERING SERVICE QUALITY OF CARE ANNUAL 

REPORT  

 

The Fostering Service Quality of Care Annual Report is compiled as required under 

the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016. Regulation 52 of the 

Local Authority Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2018 also requires the Local 

Authority Manager to put suitable arrangements in place to establish and maintain a 

system for monitoring, reviewing and improving the quality of service. 

The Corporate Parenting Board monitored the progress in relation to carer support 

and consultation, education, establishing the Regional Front Door Service and the 

priorities for the year ahead. 

More information on the Fostering Service Quality of Care Annual Report can be found 

here  

YOUNG CARERS ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22  

The Young Carers Service now sits within the wider all-age Carers Support Project 

following a review and restructure carried out towards the end of 2018/2019. The 

review identified a need for a strategic lead for carers within the authority and the 

Service Manager for Carers now has responsibility for all carer issues, including young 

carers, young adult carers and adult carers. The restructure resulted in changes to the 

support provided to young carers. The service still has a dedicated Young Carer 

Assessor who now sits within the wider Information, Advice and Assistance function 

of Children’s Services. This is to ensure that statutory obligations are met in terms of 

assessment and monitoring of young carers.  

The support services for young carers (aged 5-17) continues to be provided on a 

commissioned basis by Action for Children. Specific support is available via an 

externally funded post for Young Adult Carers (aged 18-25). Sibling carers (Children 

whose sibling has additional needs) receive limited support via the Carers Support 

Project.  

The Young Carers Annual Report summarises the support provided to young carers 

(aged 0-17) and young adults (aged 18-25) during a turbulent year and recognises the 

key developments achieved despite extreme challenging circumstances, specifically 

from the impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic.  

REGISTERED CHILDCARE PROVISION 2020-21 

The Corporate Parenting Board received updates on the Care Inspectorate Wales 

(CIW) registered childcare provision settings overseen by the Community, Wellbeing 

and Resilience Service (CWRS). 

Page 30

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s33216/Quality%20of%20Care%20Report%20-%20draft%202020-2021.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s33216/Quality%20of%20Care%20Report%20-%20draft%202020-2021.pdf?LLL=0


 19 

 

Since updates received during May 2019, significant service developments have taken 

place in respect of childcare provision across Rhondda Cynon Taf. During this 

Municipal Year, a new purpose-built Flying Start childcare setting has been 

established on the Llwynypia campus of Coleg Y Cymoedd. This has replaced the 

historical Flying Start provision in the previous Ynsycynon Primary School site.  

 

HOUSING OFFER FOR CARE LEAVERS 

The Housing Offer for Care leavers report is compiled based on Section 78 of the 

Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 which imposes a duty upon the Local 

Authority to safeguard and promote the well-being of each child it looks after. Under 

section 104-118, a Local Authority has similar duties to promote the well-being of care 

leavers. During this Municipal year, the Corporate Parenting Board were provided with 

information about how 16+ looked after young people and care leavers are provided 

with move on accommodation and support.  

The Corporate Parenting Board was reassured on the duty of care of the team to 

ensure young people are housed in accommodation fit for purpose where they feel 

safe and supported.  

CHILD PRACTICE REVIEW  

A Child Practice Review is conducted in line with the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 

Safeguarding Children Board’s duties under Working Together to Safeguard People 

Volume 3) which is issued under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  

The process is focussed on positive outcomes for children and young people through 

learning lessons to improve multi agency safeguarding practice. It includes different 

types of reviews; concise and extended as well as multi agency practitioner forums.  

The report was exempt from the public to ensure that the Board receive a detailed 

overview of the recommendations of 2 Concise Child Practice Reviews (CPR’s) 

conducted by Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Children Board (CTMSB) and the 

measures Children Services had taken to embed and evaluate review learning in 

response. 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



 20 

 

THE CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD – 

MOVING FORWARD 

In the 2022/23 Municipal Year, key areas of focus of the Corporate Parenting Board 

will include: 

REGULAR PERFORMANCE DATA 

 
It is essential that the Corporate Parenting Board regularly receive the qualitative data 

and statutory updates. The monitoring of regular performance data allows the 

Corporate Parenting Board to effectively analyse key areas and determine ways to 

further improve and enhance the services the Council provides. The updates will 

include: 

• Regulation 73 Reports 

• Social Services Complaints & Compliments 

• Advocacy Updates 

• CIW Inspections reports of the Children’s Homes 

• Child Practice Review 

• Performance (IRO) 

• Accommodation 

• Care to Work  

• Adoption 

• Education   

The Corporate Parenting Board will receive annual updates from the following services 

to continue to monitor the progress, achievements, and future aspirations: 

• Miskin 

• Therapeutic Families Team 

• Resilient Families Service 

• Youth Offending Service  

• Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Regional Adoption Service  

• Fostering Services Quality of Care 

• Registered Childcare Provision 

• Young Carers  

• RCT Forum  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



 21 

 

INTERACTION WITH YOUNG PEOPLE 

 
The Corporate Parenting Board welcome the attendance of looked after young people 

and care leavers at its meetings and recognise that their voice must be at the centre 

of all discussions. The Board receive reports containing data and statistics, but the 

opportunity to hearing the first-hand experiences of the young person is invaluable. 

Encouraging their participation will be key moving forward as it provides Members with 

further insight into the areas where improvements need to be made. 

During the Municipal Year, it was reported that the RCT Forum would aim to establish 

a cohort of group members to develop and further understand the issues Children and 

young people face in order to create a clear implementation plan. The Corporate 

Parenting Board welcome an update on this going forward. 

In 2018, RCT Children Services supported children who were looked after to complete 

the Your Life, Your Care Survey. The survey had been developed through the Bright 

Spots Programme to measure the well-being of children looked after.  

Following the survey, the following areas of improvement were identified: 

‘Social workers need to: 

• Ensure that children and young people understand who they are. 

• Work with children and young people to involve them in decisions. 

• Explain to every child why they are in care and regularly review this with 
them to establish if they would like more information. 

• Continue to communicate with schools to identify and help children who feel 
bullied at school and those who feel that they do not have a good friend. 

• Give carers further training in therapeutic parenting. 

• Consider not just organised activities but contact with nature when reviewing 
opportunities to have fun/hobbies 

• Regularly review contact plans taking into account children and young 
people’s wishes and feelings 

• Be aware of gender difference and give opportunities to young people (11-
18 years) to build self-esteem and a positive self-image.’ 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board wishes to continue to monitor the implementation of 

the areas identified to ensure that they have been incorporated into improvement 

plans; and welcome further updates from future surveys, which would be conducted 

on a two-year basis. 

 

 

 

Page 33



 22 

 

INDEPENDENT SECTOR PLACEMENTS 

 
The Corporate Parenting Board recognise the importance of effective placements and 

continual support for children and young people in RCT.  

During the 2021/22 Municipal Year, the Board did not receive any updates in respect 

of the independent sector placements and therefore, feel it is necessary that an update 

is provided in the next Municipal Year. This will allow new Board Members to have a 

greater understanding of the supporting services and channels offered to looked after 

young people. 

 

EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING 

OPPORTUNITIES 

 
The Corporate Parenting Board recognise the educational disadvantages often 

experienced by young people who are looked after, which can have an adverse effect 

on opportunities moving into higher education and into adulthood.  

The Corporate Parenting Board wishes to receive further updates in respect of Post-

16 employment, education and training programmes offered by the Council and its 

uptake by the young people. 

During the next Municipal Year, the Board wishes to extend an invitation to the Central 

South Consortium to update Members on the Pupil Deprivation Grant and the Cluster 

Based Model. 

The Board would also like to receive an interim update in respect of the Virtual Schools 

Model, following the paper commissioned by Welsh Government - An integrated 

approach to improving educational outcomes for looked after children in Wales written 

by Sir Alasdair Macdonald. The paper looked at integrated local authority approaches 

to supporting Children Looked After, with a particular focus upon how the Virtual 

School model in England and Scotland could be used as a basis for local authorities 

in Wales to promote the educational achievement of CLA. 

The Board will continue to receive education attainment data. 

 

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER PREVENTION STRATEGY 

 
The Corporate Parenting Board wish to review the Looked After Children Prevention 

Strategy which will outline the services being developed to enhance the offer to 

families and resources. As part of the role of the Corporate Parenting Board it’s to 

continue the work of safely supporting families to stay together.  

 

Page 34



 23 

 

ELECTED MEMBER TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES 

 
It is recognised that the role of the Corporate Parent is a collective duty of the Council 

as a whole and as such, refresher training is welcomed to Board Members and to all 

Elected Members of the Council to further enhance knowledge and to strengthen the 

Council’s commitment to the children and young people within our care. This will be 

particularly beneficial for new Members.  

THE WORK OF WELSH GOVERNMENT TO STRENGTHEN 

AND EXTEND CORPORATE PARENTING 

 
The Programme for Government, Taking Wales Forward, commits to “examine ways 
of ensuring looked after children enjoy the same life chances as other children and if 
necessary reform the way they are looked after”. As part of its focus, Welsh 
Government policy intent is to strengthen corporate parenting across all departments 
within the local authority, which will enable better partnership between services to 
enhance the outcomes for Children Looked After. 
 
The Corporate Parenting Board welcome future updates in relation to the work and 
the opportunity to consider any amendments to its Terms of Reference. 
 
 

MENTAL HEALTH & WELLBEING OF CHILDREN & 

YOUNG PEOPLE WHO ARE LOOKED AFTER AND YOUNG 

CARERS  
 
As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Corporate Parenting Board appreciate that 
issues with mental health and wellbeing are likely to have risen and therefore, would 
like to receive an update on what support is available to young people. 

 
FRONTLINE MEETINGS  

 
During the 2021/22 Municipal year, the Corporate Parenting Board had the opportunity 
to meet virtually with staff working in Children Services in order to better understand 
the work undertaken to safeguard the health and wellbeing of children in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, particularly those in corporate care, their various needs and the means of 
understanding the needs of staff.  
 
The Board aimed to understand the challenges faced by staff, particularly during the 
Pandemic relating to staff turnover, retention, and wellbeing.  
 
The feedback received from the meetings was invaluable for the Corporate Parenting 
Board as it strengthens service strategy implementation for the overall support for staff 
and the children, and young people who are looked after in RCT. 

Page 35

https://janehutt.wales/2016/09/20/taking-wales-forward/#:~:text=Taking%20Wales%20Forward%20is%20a%20Programme%20for%20Government,to%20maximise%20our%20impact%20in%20these%20uncertain%20times.


 24 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD WORK 
PROGRAMME  

2022-2023 

A 2022-23 work programme for the Corporate Parenting Board is set out below.  The 

work programme is a fluid document, which can be amended by Members at any given 

point to accommodate a change in priorities.  The programme is based on factors 

highlighted within the Board’s Annual Report and does not include the statutory 

updates presented to the Board.   

REPORT DATE 
Corporate Parenting Board Work Programme July, 2022 
  
Corporate Parenting Board Annual Report 2022-23 July 2022 
  
Charter for Parents in Care and Leaving Care July 2022 
  
Scrutiny Healthy Lives Report July 2022 
  
Children Looked After Prevention Strategy Update July 2022 
  

Registered Childcare Provision Annual Update 2021-22 September 2022 
  
Youth Offending Service Annual Report 2021-22 & reducing the 
criminalisation of care experienced children and young adults 

September 2022 

  
RCT Forum September 2022 
  
Pupil Deprivation Grant - Update September 2022 
  
Children Looked After Website Advancement Update September 2022 
  
Young Carers Annual Report 2021-22 November 2022 
  
Miskin Annual Report and Therapeutic Families Team Annual 
Report 2021-22 

November 2022 

  
Vale, Valley & Cardiff Regional Adoption annual report 2021-22 November 2022 
  
Housing Offer to Care Leavers November 2022 
  
Fostering Quality of Care Annual Report     January 2023 
  
RCT Forum  January 2023 
  
Children Looked After Education Data and Improvement 
Strategy Update 

January 2023  

Page 36



 25 

 

  
Young Carers Annual Report 2022-23 March 2023 
  
Employment, Education and Training Programmes for Children 
Looked After 

March 2023 

  
Virtual School Model pilot – Interim Evaluation of Year 1 March 2023 
  
Frontline Visits March 2023  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



 26 

 

CONCLUSION 

Thank you for taking the time to read the Corporate Parenting Board Annual Report 

for the 2021/22 Municipal Year. The report seeks to highlight the scope of work 

undertaken during the past year and the Council’s ongoing commitment to improving 

the outcomes for the children and young people who are looked after in Rhondda 

Cynon Taf. 

In the 2022/23 Municipal Year, the Corporate Parenting Board will ensure that a full 

and varied work programme is set, which will focus on the above-mentioned reports, 

as well as any other topical or urgent business which may arise. 

In summary, the Corporate Parenting Board will continue to benefit from strong 

membership with positive relationships between Councillors and Officers who will 

meet regularly throughout the year. 

We will continue to seek the best possible outcomes for the children and young people 

in our care. Despite uncertain times and the national rise in the number of children 

who are becoming looked after, the Corporate Parenting Board and the Council as a 

whole are committed to its safeguarding duties. 

 
 
 

Page 38



 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

21st November 2022 
 

 
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT – 30th September 2022 (Quarter 2) 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND DIGITAL SERVICES IN 
DISCUSSION WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER (CLLR LEYSHON) 
 
AUTHOR: Paul Griffiths, Service Director – Finance and Improvement 
Services (01443) 680609  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides Members with an overview of the Council’s performance, 

both from a financial and operational perspective, based on the first six-
months of this financial year (to the 30th September 2022). 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 

 
2.1  Note the context of the Council’s Services continuing to manage the on-going 

effects of communities recovering from the pandemic and the United 
Kingdom wide cost-of-living crisis, both of which are contributing to increases 
in demand for many services and significant inflationary cost pressures. 
 
Revenue 
 

2.2 Note and agree the General Fund revenue outturn position of the Council as 
at the 30th September 2022 (Section 2 of the Executive Summary).  

 
Capital 
  

2.3 Note the capital outturn position of the Council as at the 30th September 2022 
(Sections 3a – e of the Executive Summary). 

 
2.4 Note the details of the Treasury Management Prudential Indicators as at the 

30th September 2022 (Section 3f of the Executive Summary). 
 
 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Corporate Plan Priorities 

 
2.5 Note the Quarter 2 progress updates for the Council’s Corporate Plan 

priorities (Sections 5 a – c of the Executive Summary).  
 
2.6  Note the progress update to enhance the Council’s short term and long-term 

response to extreme weather events (Section 6 of the Executive Summary).  
 
2.7 Note the progress update in respect of the Council’s response to tackling 

Climate Change (Section 7 of the Executive Summary).  

 
 
3.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1  To agree the Council’s financial and operational performance position as at 

the 30th September 2022 to enable elected Members and other stakeholders 
to scrutinise the performance of the Council.  

 
 
4.0 BACKGROUND 
 
4.1  This report provides Members with the second update of the Council's 

financial and operational performance position for the financial year ending 
the 31st March 2023.  

 
4.2  The aim of the report is to bring together the Council’s performance into an 

Executive Summary and make available more detailed information to the 
reader through electronic links. Information contained in the Executive 
Summary includes financial data, progress against our Corporate Plan 
priorities (with exceptions highlighted within the detailed sections to ensure 
that elected Members and other readers are able to quickly identify the key 
issues) and progress updates in respect of enhancing the Council’s response 
to extreme weather events and to tackle climate change.   

 
4.3 The report is set in the context of the on-going impact of Covid-19 and cost-

of-living crisis, both of which are contributing to significant increases in 
demand and cost pressures across a number of services. Members will note 
that the Welsh Government Covid-19 Hardship Fund, that funded the majority 
of additional expenditure and income losses incurred as a result of the 
pandemic, ceased from 1st April 2022 with the requirement for local 
authorities to manage any on-going service and financial implications from 
within existing resources. Within this very challenging and changing 
environment, the Council is maintaining its focus on frontline service delivery, 
in line with Corporate Plan priorities, to help support the needs of residents 
and businesses.  
 

Page 40



3 
 

4.4 Further information on the above position together with the proactive steps 
being taken by the Council are included within the Executive Summary.  
 
 

5.0 QUARTER 2 REPORT 
   

5.1  The Quarter 2 report is attached and comprises:  
 

• Executive Summary – setting out, at a glance, the overall performance 
of the Council as at Quarter 2 (i.e. 30th September 2022). 
 

• Revenue Monitoring – sections 2a – e setting out the detailed projected 
financial spend against budget across our Revenue Budget with 
exceptions highlighted. 

 

• Capital Monitoring – sections 3a – e setting out capital spend across 
our Capital Programme with exceptions highlighted and section 3f 
covering Prudential Indicators. 

 

• Organisational Health – includes information on turnover, sickness 
absence, organisational health related investment areas and Council 
strategic risks. 

 

• Corporate Plan Priorities – three action plans (Sections 5a – c) setting 
out progress updates for the priorities of People, Places and Prosperity.  

 

• Enhancing the Council’s response to extreme weather events -  
Section 6 setting out progress made to implement the recommendations 
agreed by Cabinet on 18th December 2020.  

 

• Tackling Climate Change – Section 7 setting out the work being 
progressed across services to support the delivery of the Council’s 
Climate Change Strategy ‘Think Climate RCT’.  

 
 

 

6.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS AND SOCI-ECONOMIC 
DUTY 

 
6.1  The Council’s Performance Report provides an update on financial and 

operational performance for the first 6-months of 2022/23; as a result, there 
are no equality and diversity or socio-economic duty implications to report.  

 
 
7.0 CONSULTATION  
 
7.1  Following consideration by Cabinet, this Report will be presented to the 

Overview and Scrutiny for review, challenge and where deemed required, the 
scrutiny of specific areas in line with the Committee’s Terms of Reference.  

Page 41

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Cabinet/2020/12/18/Reports/Item6ReviewoftheCouncilsResponsetoStormDennis.pdf


4 
 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1  There are no financial implications as a result of the recommendations set 
out in the report. 

 
 
9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  

9.1  There are no legal implications as a result of the recommendations set out in 
the report. 

 
10.0  LINKS TO CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-

BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT 
 
10.1  The Corporate Plan progress updates included within this report align with 

the priorities as set out within the Council’s Corporate Plan 2020 – 2024 
“Making a Difference”. With regard to the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act (Wales) Act 2015, at the 4th March 2020 Council meeting, it was agreed 
that the Corporate Plan priorities would also serve as its Well-being 
Objectives in line with the Act.  

 
11.0 CONCLUSION  
 
11.1  This report sets out the financial and operational performance of the Council 

as at Quarter 2 2022/23, that is, 30th September 2022.  
  
11.2 The Quarter 2 revenue budget position is projecting a £10.277M overspend, 

this excludes the cost implications of the 2022/23 pay award for NJC 
employees, agreed on 1st November 2022, and the 2022/23 teachers pay 
award offer made by Welsh Government, these equating to an increase in 
the pay bill of £10.5M for the current year, and results in an overall projected 
overspend of almost £21M. 

 
11.3  With specific regard to the full year projection, forecasted as at September 

2022, is showing significant budget pressures continuing to be present and 
is in line with that reported within the first quarter Performance Report: 
increases in demand for services, particularly social care services; additional 
inflationary cost pressures, for example, home to school contract costs; and 
where less income is anticipated to be received by services due to reduced 
take-up, for example, Leisure Services. Work is continuing as part of the 
Council’s robust financial and service management arrangements to review 
all areas of expenditure and income to bring the revenue position closer in 
line with budget by year-end. In parallel, the Council is working closely with 
Welsh Government to set out the unprecedented financial challenges facing 
the Council, like all local authorities in Wales, and to reinforce the urgent case 
for additional funding to be made available by the UK Government to support 
the continued delivery of the range of vital services provided by local 
government in Wales.  

Page 42

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/CorporatePlan2020/CorporatePlan2020ENGFINAL.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/


5 
 

11.4  Capital investment as at 30th September 2022 is £45.485M, representing 
significant on-going capital investment in the Council’s assets and 
infrastructure across the County Borough.  
 

11.5 The second quarter progress updates for the Council’s Corporate Plan 
priorities of People, Places and Prosperity demonstrate good progress overall 
in supporting the delivery of improved outcomes for residents of Rhondda 
Cynon Taf.  

 
11.6 The progress update on the delivery of recommendations to enhance the 

Council’s response to extreme weather events shows positive progress at the 
mid-point of the year, with key actions being progress to support the Council’s 
arrangements.  

 
11.7 A new section has been incorporated within the report, Section 7 Tackling 

Climate Change, and provides a progress update on the work being 
progressed across services to support the delivery of the Council’s Climate 
Change Strategy ‘Think Climate RCT’.  

 
 
Other Information:- 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Contact Officer: Paul Griffiths  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



6 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AS AMENDED BY 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

21 November 2022 

COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT – 30th September 2022 (Quarter 2) 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND DIGITAL SERVICES IN 
DISCUSSION WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER (CLLR LEYSHON) 

Item: 4 

Background Papers 

Officer to contact: Paul Griffiths 

Page 44



7 
 

COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT 
QUARTER 2 2022/23 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Contents 
Section 1 – INTRODUCTION  

 

Section 2 – REVENUE BUDGET  

Revenue Budget Performance – more detailed breakdowns are included in the following 
sections:  

 

• 2a Education and Inclusion Services;   

• 2b Community and Children’s Services;  

• 2c Chief Executive;  

• 2d  Prosperity, Development & Frontline Services; and 

• 2e Authority Wide Budgets.  
 

Earmark reserve update – Section 2f provides a breakdown of expenditure against service 
areas. 
 

Section 3 – CAPITAL PROGRAMME   

Capital programme budget – more detailed breakdowns are included in the following 
sections:  

 

• 3a Chief Executive;  

• 3b Prosperity, Development & Frontline Services;  

• 3c Education and Inclusion Services; 

• 3d Community and Children’s Services; and 

• 3e Capital Programme Funding.  
 

Prudential Indicators – a detailed breakdown is included in Section 3f.   

Section 4 – ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH  

• Turnover; Sickness Absence; Organisation Health related investment areas; and 
Council Strategic Risks.  

Section 5 – CORPORATE PLAN  

Corporate Plan priority progress updates – Quarter 2 position statements are included 
within the following sections: 5a – People; 5b – Places; and 5c – Prosperity.  
 
Section 6 – ENHANCING THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO EXTREME WEATHER 
EVENTS  
 
Progress update on the implementation of recommendations agreed by Cabinet on 18th 
December 2020 to enhance the Council’s response to extreme weather events.  
 
Section 7 – THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO TACKLING CLIMATE CHANGE  
 
Progress update on the work being progressed across services to support the delivery of the  
Council’s Climate Change Strategy ‘Think Climate RCT’.  
  
  

Page 45



8 
 

Section 1 – INTRODUCTION  

 
The Executive Summary brings together and summarises the Council’s financial and 

operational performance position as at 30th September 2022 (Quarter 2).  

 

The Quarter 2 update, in line with that reported at quarter 1, is set in the context of the 

Council’s Services managing the on-going effects of communities recovering from the 

pandemic and the United Kingdom wide cost-of-living crisis, both of which are contributing to 

increases in demand for many services and significant inflationary cost pressures. Within this 

very challenging and changing environment, the Council is maintaining its focus on frontline 

service delivery, in line with Corporate Plan priorities, to help support the needs of residents 

and businesses.  

 

Throughout the Executive Summary electronic links have been included that enable the 

reader to access more detailed information, as required.  

 
Section 2 – REVENUE BUDGET   
 
Revenue Budget Performance  
 

 2022/23 – as at 30th September 2022 (Quarter 2) 

Service Area  

Full Year 

Budget 

£M 

Projected 

Expenditure as at 

Quarter 2  

£M 

Variance 

Over / (Under) 

£M 

Education & Inclusion 

Services (2a)  
207.776 207.558 (0.218) 

Community & Children’s 

Services (2b) 

181.078 188.638 7.560 

Chief Executive (2c) 

35.478 35.393 
(0.085) 

 

Prosperity, Development 

& Frontline Services (2d)  

64.352 67.438 3.086 

Sub Total 488.684 499.027 10.343 

Authority Wide Budgets 

(2e)  
78.108 78.042 (0.066) 

Grand Total 566.792 577.069 10.277 

 
The full year revenue budget variance, projected as at 30th September 2022, is a £10.277M 

overspend. Whilst this forecasted position represents a marginal improvement compared to 

the quarter 1 projection (i.e. £10.405M projected overspend), the same factors and conditions 

are driving significant budget pressures, over and above the additional resources built into 

the 2022/23 revenue budget. These are continued:  

 

Page 46

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/1.2aEduInclQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/1.2aEduInclQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/2.2bCommSvsQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/2.2bCommSvsQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/3.2cChExecQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/4.2dPDFLServQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/4.2dPDFLServQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/5.2eAuthWideQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/5.2eAuthWideQ22223.pdf


9 
 

• High demand and cost of social care:  

 

o Adult Services – for external residential / nursing placements (specialist 

placements) and Supported Living Schemes; and  

o Children’s Services – for in-house and external residential placements.  

 

• Inflationary cost pressures driven by higher energy prices, higher wages in the external 

market and demand for some products outweighing supply – this has impacted Home 

To School contract costs in particular as a result of rising fuel prices and levels of pay, 

with the Council also incurring higher levels of expenditure on fuel and food in the direct 

delivery of services.  

 

• Lower levels of service take-up resulting in reduced levels of income received – a key 

contributory factor being the on-going effects of the pandemic where customer 

behaviour has not to date fully returned to pre-pandemic levels, for example, Leisure 

Services, and noting that for this service area income levels are showing an improved 

position compared to quarter 1.  

 
In respect of the 2022/23 pay award offer made by national employers for all NJC 
employees, notification of acceptance of the offer was received on 1st November 2022 (i.e. 
a flat rate increase of £1,925 per employee, irrespective of their Spinal Column Point / 
Grade).  With regard to the 2022/23 teachers pay award offer made by Welsh Government 
of 5%, who have devolved responsibility for teachers pay, negotiations and consultation are 
currently on-going as is the case for other negotiating bodies. For this Council, these 
amount to an increase in the pay bill above budgeted levels of £10.5M.  This is not factored 
into the above position and increases the overall projected overspend for 2022/23 to almost 
£21M.  
 
Work is on-going to review cost reduction options across all service areas, for example, 

energy usage reduction actions, enhanced recruitment control arrangements and early 

delivery of efficiency savings, to bring the position closer in line with budget by year-end as 

well as assessing earmarked reserves to provide one-off funding opportunities in 2022/23.  

With regard to earmarked reserves, a risk assessment has resulted in a number having been 

identified to be ringfenced with a view to being redirected to support the in-year pressure. 

There will be a continued focus on the above programme of work during the last half of the 

financial year to address the in-year financial position and updates will be reported as part of 

quarterly Performance Reporting arrangements.  

 

Following on, revenue budget variances, projected at Quarter 2, for each Service Group are 

set out below.  

 
Revenue budget variances projected at Quarter 2  
  
1. Education & Inclusion Services  

 
EDUCATION & INCLUSION SERVICES 

o Additional Learning Needs (£0.277M underspend); and 

Page 47



10 
 

o Education other than at School (£0.273M underspend). 
 
21st CENTURY SCHOOLS 

o Catering (£0.354M overspend). 
 

2. Community and Children’s Services  
 
ADULT SERVICES 

o Long Term Care & Support (£0.382M overspend); 
o Commissioned Services (£4.716M overspend);  
o Provider Services (£1.315M overspend); 
o Short Term Intervention Services (£0.949M underspend), and 
o Management, Safeguarding & Support Services (£0.182M overspend). 

 
CHILDREN SERVICES 
o Safeguarding & Support (including Children Looked After) (£1.280M overspend);  
o Early Intervention (£0.101M overspend); and 
o Intensive Intervention (£0.374M underspend). 

 
PUBLIC HEALTH AND PROTECTION  

o Public Protection (£0.348M underspend); 
o Community Services (£0.086M underspend); 
o Communities & Wellbeing (£0.055M underspend); and 
o Leisure, Countryside and Cultural Services (£1.409M overspend).  

 
3. Prosperity, Development & Frontline Services  

 
PROSPERITY & DEVELOPMENT 

o Prosperity & Development (£0.077M underspend). 
 
FRONTLINE SERVICES  

o Highways Management (£0.054M overspend); 
o Transportation (£3.320M overspend);  
o Street Cleansing (£0.059M overspend); 
o Waste Services (£0.173M underspend); and  
o Parks Services (£0.090M underspend). 

 
4. Chief Executive  

 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

o Democratic Services & Communications (£0.053M underspend); 
o Finance & Digital Services (£0.125M underspend); and 
o Corporate Estates (£0.084M overspend). 

 
5. Authority Wide Budgets  

 

• Miscellaneous (£0.108M underspend).  
 
 

Earmark Reserve Update   
 

• A breakdown of full year expenditure against approved earmark reserves for Service 
Areas can be viewed at Section 2f by clicking here.  

Page 48

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/6.2fEMRPositionQ2.pdf


11 
 

Section 3 – CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 
Capital Programme Budget  

 

Service Area  

2022/23 -  
as at 30th September 2022 

Capital Budget 
£M 

Actual Expenditure   
£M 

Chief Executive (3a)  5.389 0.709 

Prosperity, Development & Frontline 
Services (3b) 

83.425 26.566 

Education & Inclusion Services (3c) 69.378 17.549 

Community & Children’s Services (3d) 13.928 0.661 

Total 172.120 45.485 

 
 

Key Capital Variances at Quarter 2  
 

• Re-profiling of a number of projects to reflect changes in the total cost of schemes and 

revised delivery timescales.  

• Grant approvals introduced into the Capital Programme: Welsh Government (WG) 

Additional Learning Needs Grant (£1.621M); WG Sustainable Communities for Learning 

Grant (£31.797M); WG Bus Infrastructure Fund Grant (£0.440M); WG Universal Primary 

Free School Meal Grant (£2.837M); WG Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

(£1.474M); and WG Coal Tips Safety Grant (£4.470M).  

 
For information on how the Capital Programme is funded see section 3e by clicking here.  

Prudential Indicators  

For a detailed breakdown of Prudential Indicators, see section 3f by clicking here.  
  

Page 49

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/7.3aQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/8.3bQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/8.3bQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/9.3cQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/10.3dQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/11.3eQ22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/12.3fPruIndQ22223.pdf


12 
 

Section 4 – ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH 

• Turnover   

 

Service Area 

2022/23 2021/22 

As at 30th  
September 2022 

As at 30th 
September 2021 

As at 31st March 
2022 

Staff 
Nos. 

% 
Turnover 

Staff 
Nos. 

% 
Turnover 

Staff 
Nos. 

% 
Turnover 

Turnover – Council Wide  10,880 7.12 10,979 6.71 11,079 11.30 

Community & Children’s 
Services1 

2,776 9.11 2,939 6.46 2,976 12.70 

Prosperity, Development & 
Frontline Services  

773 4.66 921 7.60 945 11.22 

Education & Inclusion 
Services  

1,268 3.08 1,244 5.06 1,233 9.08 

Schools 
Primary 
Secondary  

4,957 
3,112 
1,845 

8.01 
6.33 

10.84 

4,976 
3,108 
1,868 

7.60 
6.34 
9.69 

5,013 
3,238 
1,775 

11.35 
9.51 
14.70 

Chief Executive’s Division  1,106 4.52 899 4.00 912 9.54 

 

• Sickness Absence 
 

Service Area 

2022/23 2021/22 

As at 30th  
September 

2022 
% 

As at 30th 
September 

2021 
% 

As at 31st 
March 2022 

% 

% days lost to sickness absence – Council 
Wide  

5.17 4.30 5.40 

Community & Children’s Services1 7.66 6.80 7.46 

Prosperity, Development & Frontline Services  5.29 5.47 5.62 

Education & Inclusion Services 4.37 3.70 4.88 

Schools 
Primary  
Secondary 

4.36 
4.76 
3.70 

2.94 
3.12 
2.63 

4.61 
4.77 
4.31 

Chief Executive’s Division  3.32 3.27 3.54 

 
For a more detailed breakdown of 2022/23 staff turnover and sickness absence 
information click here.  

 
1 2022/23 position reflects service area restructures  
 

Page 50

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/SummaryCouncilSicknessQ22223.pdf


13 
 

Organisation Health related investment areas  

 
There will be a continued focus on investing in organisational health related areas, for 
example, IT infrastructure and invest to save energy efficiency schemes, with projects being 
delivered operationally within services across the Council.  

 

• Council Strategic Risks  

 
The Council’s Strategic Risk Register is reviewed on an on-going basis to take account of 
the changing internal and external operating environment, including the on-going impact of 
Covid-19 and the cost-of-living crisis. The quarter 2 review has identified the need to revise 
the risk rating for two strategic risks:  
 

o Risk 14 (i.e. If individual school budgets are not appropriately managed, then schools 
will be required to deliver budget recovery plans and efficiencies at a time when 
investment and support should be at the forefront of planning) – Risk Score revised 
from 12 to 16, reflecting the very challenging environment schools are operating 
within, both in the current financial year and also the future outlook for the Council as 
a whole as per the updated Medium Term Financial Plan reported to Cabinet on 26th 
September 2022; and  
 

o Risk 25 (i.e. If the planning arrangements to support the on-going recovery from 
Covid-19 are not joined up and delivered with partners, then then the capability of the 
Council to support the required improvements to the health and economic well-being 
of the County Borough will be diminished / fragmented) – Risk Score revised from 25 
to 16, reflecting the on-going transition of Covid-19 from pandemic to endemic status 
in line with Welsh Government guidance and the arrangements the Council has in 
place, with partners, to ensure there continues to be an holistic focus on testing, 
incidents, outbreaks and contract tracing. 

 
 

The Council’s updated Strategic Risk Register can be viewed by clicking here. The Strategic 
Risk Register will be kept under on-gong review and further updates will be reported during 
the last half of the financial year as part of quarterly Performance Reporting arrangements.   
 
 

Page 51

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/14.RiskRegisterQtr22223.pdf


14 
 

Section 5 – CORPORATE PLAN  
 
Corporate Plan priority action plans are in place and cover the three priorities of People, 
Places and Prosperity. For quarter 2, each action plan includes a number of performance 
measures to accompany key actions, their re-introduction reflecting services’ on-going 
recovery from the pandemic and aim to provide Members with a full as picture as possible of 
the Council’s performance. For Members information, the reintroduction of in-year reporting 
of performance measures, the first time since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic, will be an 
on-going process and be subject to revision / refinement to ensure they help measure the 
difference the Council’s work is having on residents and communities.  
 
A summary of progress made across each of the three priorities as at 30th September 2022 
(Quarter 2) is set out in Sections 5a - c. Members will note that as part of the summaries of 
progress, electronic links have been included to each priority action plan, providing more 
detailed information on the progress during the second quarter of the year.  

 
Corporate Plan Priority Progress Update  
 
o PEOPLE (Section 5a) 

 

PEOPLE – Are independent, healthy and successful 

Summary of progress to 30th September 2022 

Supporting our residents who are older, vulnerable or who have disabilities, to remain 
independent and have a good quality of life.  
 
We have continued our work to support our residents who are older, vulnerable or who have 
disabilities, to remain independent and have a good quality of life. Construction of the new extra 
care facility in Porth is progressing well and plans for a further three extra care facilities in Mountain 
Ash, Treorchy and Ferndale are being developed. The development of Extra Care homes offers 
an opportunity for older people to lead a more independent life and prevent unnecessary 
admissions to residential care.  Extra Care also enables people to have more control and be more 
involved in decisions about their environment and the services they receive. All of the new Extra 
Care homes have also been designed to achieve ‘BREEAM’ excellence, the world’s leading 
sustainability assessment. 
 
Working with Trivallis, we opened a supported accommodation scheme in Llanhari following a 
refurbishment of Elm Road accommodation. This scheme provides a safe, secure and high-quality 
environment for adults with learning disabilities. Assessments have been completed and 
individuals have started to move into their accommodation. A similar supported living scheme in 
Treorchy is also under construction in partnership with Cynon Taf Housing Association and is due 
to be completed in Spring 2023, slightly later than planned. A further scheme is also planned at 
the ‘Big Shed’ development in Tonypandy. Proposals for the former Bronllwyn Care Home in Gelli 
were approved by Cabinet in July 2022. The development will provide new specialist care 
accommodation for people with learning disabilities as part of the wider modernisation of Council 
residential care provision. 
 
We are taking forward the Council’s review on the future shape of residential care for older people 
to ensure we create the right model of service delivery to respond to increasing demand and 
changing needs in the long term. A report will be provided to Cabinet in quarter 3 which will set 
out development proposals and options for modernisation of, and investment in, the Council’s 
residential services. 
 

Page 52

https://www.trivallis.co.uk/en/
https://www.trivallis.co.uk/en/2022/10/20/long-awaited-llanharry-project-completed/
https://cynon-taf.org.uk/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/ProgressupdateonTheBigSheddevelopmentinTonypandy.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/ProposalsforspecialistcareaccommodationdevelopmentinGelli.aspx
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36062/Report.pdf?LLL=0


15 
 

PEOPLE – Are independent, healthy and successful 

We continue to invest in reablement services to prevent escalation of need increasing or enable 
recovery and independence. Commission Care & Repair have increased service capacity in order 
to reduce waiting times for minor adaptations and small and medium Disabled Facility Grants. It 
was agreed that a new Intermediate Care Step Up and Step Down facility would be created to 
avoid hospital admission and support discharge. We are working with Health to open this new 
facility from October 2022. 
 
We are also empowering people to be more independent at home by continuing to promote direct 
payments as a way of managing individual care needs. We have reviewed our existing direct 
payment policy and new guidance has been developed and shared with staff, service users and 
our commissioned direct payment support provider. The new policy and guidance has been 
completed but implementation has been delayed until December 2022 so that guidance can be 
updated for medication administration for personal assistants.  We have also commissioned 
Community Catalyst to support people and local partners to develop small enterprises and 
ventures that can provide real choice and increase the number and range of homecare and 
support options for local people. 
 
We are also building on our engagement in 2021/22 and learning from the pandemic to inform the 
transformation of day services going forward so that people with a learning disability have access 
to meaningful activity and opportunities in their own communities, including employment to 
achieve their personal goals and live ordinary lives. The draft Day Services Strategy is currently 
being developed and employment and volunteering are a specific element; a range of co-
production events are being held to inform writing of draft strategy and will be reported to Cabinet 
in due course. We have developed a range of links with employers and pathways to employment 
are being developed with Elite. Volunteering opportunities continue to be developed with our 
partners and internally with community development officers.  
 
Encouraging residents to lead active and healthy lifestyles and maintain their mental 
wellbeing. 
 
We continue to encourage all residents to lead active and healthy lifestyles and maintain their 
mental wellbeing as we know that this is key to living a long and healthy life, and reducing the risk 
of long-term illnesses such as heart disease, stroke and Type 2 diabetes. We continue to invest 
in our playgrounds and work has begun on our programme of investment for 2022/23, with 5 
projects completed so far. We have also improved the fitness suite in Hawthorn Leisure Centre, 
which is now open to the public. A new 3G pitch in Baglan Field/Ynysfio Field, Treherbert is also 
available for use by the public and sports clubs. This mean that Rhondda Cynon Taf now has 14 
3G facilities spread across the County Borough, and crucially means that the ambition to ensure 
that residents have access to such a facility within a 3-mile radius of wherever they live has been 
achieved.  
 
The pandemic highlighted how important and valued our libraries are to our communities. We are 
enhancing the services available at our new libraries in Llys Cadwyn and the Treorchy Cultural 
Hub with a focus on community engagement and partnership. We have also involved communities 
in seventeen 'Community Conversations' sessions, engaging 275 individuals across RCT as part 
of the implementation of the National Lottery Heritage Fund ‘Altered Images’ project. Feedback 
from the sessions will inform the Year 2 Action Plan. The main aim of the Altered Images project 
is to help record and research memorials and monuments throughout Rhondda Cynon Taf as well 
as capturing the diverse stories and memories of our neighbourhoods. 
 
We continue to prioritise strengthening relationships with residents and community groups and 
finding out what is important to residents. This includes working to ensure that communities have 

Page 53

https://www.communitycatalysts.co.uk/project/rhondda-cynon-taf/
https://elitesea.co.uk/rhondda-cynon-taf/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/SportsandLeisure/LeisureCentres/ChooseaCentre/HawthornLeisureCentre/HawthornLeisureCentre.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/SportsandLeisure/LeisureCentres/ChooseaCentre/LlysCadwyn/LlysCadwyn.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Libraries/Librarylocationsandopeninghours/TreorchyLibrary.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Libraries/Librarylocationsandopeninghours/TreorchyLibrary.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/ConnectingCommunitiesThroughAlteredImages.aspx


16 
 

PEOPLE – Are independent, healthy and successful 

access to information, advice and guidance both digitally and locally. Following the severe 
disruption of the pandemic, our Community Co-ordinators have now returned to working in 
community bases and our One4all services are also fully open including the re-introduction of a 
drop-in service at Pontyclun Library. We want to ensure older people feel safe and welcome in 
their communities by working in partnership with the Older People’s Advisory Group to develop a 
plan to achieve Age Friendly Wales status. Progress is being made with local developments noted 
within Gilfach Goch Community Venue.  
 
We want to increase the opportunities for people to learn and use Welsh within their communities 
and we are working with Menter Iaith to deliver Welsh courses and classes across Rhondda Cynon 
Taf and enhancing the provision at Garth Olwg Centre as part of this.  
 
Integrating health and social care and providing support for those with mental health 
problems and complex needs. 
 
We continue to collaborate with our partners to support older people to stay in their homes longer, 
prevent unnecessary stays in hospital and to help get people home from hospital more quickly 
when they are well enough. We are working with Health to explore options for the development of 
an integrated community health and social care locality model and have completed a review of 
options for an integrated community model. A draft Integrated Community Services Model has 
been completed and shared with the Health Board and regional local authority partners for 
agreement by the Regional Partnership Board in October 2022. We are also working together to 
improve patient experience and redesign the pathways for integrated primary and community 
based urgent care services and ‘home first’ discharge from hospital services. This includes 
working with Health to implement a review of the current health and social care system and 
implement the Welsh Government’s Discharge to Recover then Assess Model (D2RA) pathways 
as part of the 6 goals for urgent and emergency care programme initiative. Implementation is 
planned for December 2022. 
 
Our work to review and redesign Community Mental Health Services with Health is ongoing. As 
part of this we will complete a review of current Community Mental Health Services and develop 
options to redesign our joint Service offer to meet current and future long term need and demand 
pressures. Redesign work has continued but completion has been delayed due to covid pressures 
and planned organisational restructures in the Health Board. A new work programme and 
timescales have been agreed with Health.  
 
Improving services for children and young people and ensuring the needs of children are 
considered in everything we do. 
 
We continue to improve access to timely information, advice and assistance to facilitate improved 
access to, and engagement in, early intervention and prevention services for children, young 
people and families. The new RCT Families website is complete however the launch has been 
delayed due to difficulties with the website host. We are currently reviewing the capacity and ability 
to develop multi-use areas and evaluate building capacity within our Children and Family centres 
to support the development of an access plan for community groups, during day time, evenings 
and weekends going forward.   
 
We continue to focus our services on early intervention and prevention to improve the life 
outcomes for children in RCT. We have appointed an additional Mental Health & Wellbeing Officer 
to increase capacity in YEPS to meet the increased demand. We are also revising existing 
Children and Communities Grant contracts with providers to support the delivery of integrated 
support pathways supporting the emotional wellbeing and mental health of children, young people 

Page 54

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/Libraries/Librarylocationsandopeninghours/PontyclunLibrary.aspx
https://gartholwg.org/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Partnerships/Workingwithothers/TheCwmTafMorgannwgRegionalPartnershipBoard.aspx
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-01/the-discharge-to-recover-then-assess-model.pdf


17 
 

PEOPLE – Are independent, healthy and successful 

and families.  This work has included establishing a ‘lot’ for Counselling on the Approved Providers 
list, which includes counselling services for children and adults. We are embedding a suite of 16+ 
Support projects that are being offered to young people leaving education with a destination 
including the Becoming Independent Project and Reducing Risk of Youth Homelessness Project. 
Youth Homelessness interventions are all underway via a combination of short and long term 
projects led by the Youth Homelessness Officer and the Youth Homeless Education Officer. 
 
We want to make sure that those children that cannot remain with their families can be looked 
after closer to home. We are continuing to work with providers to develop placement sufficiency 
close to home. A Residential Children’s Services Strategy and action plan for the next 5 years is 
being drafted. The draft strategy will be pre-scrutinised in November 2022. We are working with 
Foster Wales to increase the recruitment of foster carers, in particular, those who are able to 
support children with more complex needs. Enquiries are increasing but only small numbers of 
new foster carers are being approved to date. We are also developing a revised Housing Options 
model for care-leavers to whom the Council owes a corporate parenting duty in order that they 
can leave care placements in a safe, planned way which avoids homelessness wherever possible. 
Two dedicated Housing Solutions Officers have been appointed and a referral pathway document 
has been drafted. 
 
We continue to strengthen participation of children and young people to promote engagement and 
involvement specifically with Children Looked After and partner agencies to ensure co-production 
and that the voice of children and young people are heard in service development and delivery.  
We have developed a Participation Strategy which incorporates different communication 
approaches when engaging with children and young people.  
 
We are delivering the Early Years Transformation agenda in RCT in order to ensure early years 
services are universally available and specialist services are targeted by need and not 
geographical location. This will also improve early intervention and prevention outcomes across 
the County Borough. Health characteristics data transfer has been completed. An Early Years 
Vulnerability Project plan is in place and a full profile test underway; however, full information 
sharing protocols are yet to be agreed. This work is being led by Public Health Wales. We continue 
to pilot the new integrated Early Years delivery model and are currently leading on the external 
evaluation of the new delivery model in RCT on behalf of the region. The data continues to be 
reviewed and reported on a regular basis to Senior Managers in RCT and CTMUHB. There has 
been a significant improvement in the number of Schedule of Growing Skills assessments (SOGS) 
and ante natal visits undertaken by Health Visitors during the last quarter. 

 
The full action plan can be viewed by clicking here.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 55

https://fosterwales.gov.wales/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/15.PEOPLEQ2.pdf


18 
 

Investment Priority Progress Update – Quarter 2 

 

Progress in our Investment Priorities – PEOPLE 

Investment Area 
Investment 

Value2 
£M 

Quarter 2 Update 

Extracare Housing  
 

6.974 
 

 

This investment funding covers:  
 

• Porth - agreed by the Council’s Cabinet on 3rd 
December 2020. Progress to date includes: the 
vacation of the building; site surveys and  
demolition works completed; planning permission 
granted 16th December 2021; and contractor on 
site and progressing with works (and noting that 
previous projects delivered in this area include: 
the former Maesyffynnon Home for the Elderly 
site (Aberaman) and Pontypridd "Cwrt yr Orsaf" 
Extra Care Housing Scheme, opened in May 
2020 and October 2021 respectively).  

 
Plans for a further three extra care facilities in 
Mountain Ash, Treorchy and Ferndale are being 
developed. 
 

Tackling Poverty 
Fund 

0.300 This investment funding is to help address areas 
where there are high levels of poverty (including fuel 
poverty) to increase the disposable income of 
households, for example, by supporting households 
to reduce energy bills, helping to overcome barriers 
to find employment. An application to the UK 
Government’s Shared Prosperity Fund has been 
submitted and, if successful, the funding will be used 
for Heating Grants and Solar Panels in line with this 
existing priority area for the Council.  
 
 

Total 7.274  

 

 
2 Investment Value – relates to LIVE projects / works only that have been allocated additional investment 
funding.  

Page 56



19 
 

o PLACES (Section 5b) 
 

PLACES - Where people are proud to live, work and play 

Summary of progress to 30th September 2022 

Keeping RCT clean through efficient street cleaning services, minimising the amount of 
waste we send to landfill, achieving our recycling targets through weekly recycling and 
regular refuse collections, and reducing our carbon footprint  
 
We continue to promote good recycling practices through campaigns and education. The 
Education Centre at Bryn Pica has reopened offering schools to take part in face to face visits 
which will run alongside our online sessions. Our campaigns have focussed on key recycling 
activity at Easter and the Jubilee celebrations. Winners of our Schools Easter Egg Recycling 
Challenge were announced in August. We also continue to promote seasonal recycling 
competitions in schools e.g. in July schools were invited to take part in our School Uniform 
Recycling Competition. This quarter we have also promoted ‘Zero Waste Week’ during 
September.  
 
The tonnage of recycled waste during Quarter 2 is lower than the same period last year (39,847 
tonnes compared to 46,788 tonnes in 2021/22) and our overall recycling percentage is also 
lower i.e. 66.74% compared to 69.78% at Quarter 2 2021/22. Work is on-going with landlords, 
agents and residents to encourage good recycling practices that will reduce municipal waste 
and have a positive effect on the environment, and we continue to work with Caru Cymru (Keep 
Wales Tidy) to support community activity e.g. litter picks.  
 
The Council’s Enforcement Team has continued to monitor and act against fly-tippers with 961 
recorded incidents this quarter (2,945 last year) and the outcomes of enforcement activity have 
been published on the Council’s Website. In addition, the enforcement off street parking 
restrictions and school keep clear zones continues to ensure the safe passage of both drivers 
and residents. Appropriate enforcement action to ensure that the Public Spaces Protection 
Order for dog controls is complied with continues and includes taking relevant court action and 
publicising the outcomes.          
 
We are progressing our climate change agenda through the trialling of alternative fuelled refuse 
vehicles and the development of a Draft ULEV Fleet Transition Plan. We have progressed plans 
for EV charging facilities across the County Borough and continue to explore areas where we 
can create renewable energy e.g. The Coed Ely Solar Farm, and potential hydro developments. 
We also continue to engage with Welsh Government in respect of grant funding to develop an 
Eco Park at Bryn Pica, that includes trials for recycling plastic, and there is on-going focus on 
implementing procurement policies to reduce the use of single use plastic items.  
 
We also opened the new re-use shop on Aberdare High Street during the quarter which is the 
third in the County Borough and now means that there is a ‘Shed’ in every area of Rhondda, 
Cynon and Taf for residents to visit and enjoy. 
 
Keeping the County Borough moving, including improvements to roads and pavements 
and public transport, whilst also improving air quality 
 
Our highways investment programme activity continues across the County Borough, including 
progressing the A4119 duelling scheme in Coed Ely, undertaking repairs at Maerdy mountain 
and completing work at Nant Cwm Parc Cantilever and Institute Bridge scheme in Treorchy and 
progressing work on the Brook Street footbridge at Ystrad Rhondda Railway Station. We also 
continue to progress the requirements of the Flood and Water Management Act and flood risk 

Page 57

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/PupilsReDiscoverWorldofRecycling.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/April/HerestoanEggsceptionalEasterRecyclingResult.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/May/GiveYourRecyclingtheRoyalTreatment.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/RecyclingCompetitionWinnerAnnounced.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/RecyclingCompetitionWinnerAnnounced.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/September/ZeroWasteWeek5%E2%80%939thSeptember2022.aspx
https://keepwalestidy.cymru/caru-cymru/
https://keepwalestidy.cymru/caru-cymru/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/FlytipperFINED4100.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/FlytipperFINED700.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/SerialIrresponsibleDogOwnerFacesCourtAction.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/DOGSHAVENOBUSINESSONSPORTSFIELDS.aspx
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36719/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/May/NewEVchargingfacilitiestobeinstalledacrosstheCountyBorough.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/September/NewShedOfficiallyOpensinAberdare.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/BinsandRecycling/TheShedReuseShop.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/WorkbeginsontheA4119DuallingScheme.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/SummerprogrammeofrepairstotheMaerdyMountainroute.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/SummerprogrammeofrepairstotheMaerdyMountainroute.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/FinalworkinNantCwmParcCantileverandInstituteBridgescheme.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/ProgressingtheBrookStreetfootbridgeworksduringAugust.aspx


20 
 

PLACES - Where people are proud to live, work and play 

mitigation measures. An update on the recommendations contained in the review of the Council’s 
response to Storm Dennis Cabinet Report 18 December 2020 can be found in Section 6 of this 
Executive Summary. This year Section 19 Flood Reports have been released for Trehafod, 
Cwmbach, Abercwmboi, Fernhill and Porth, Aberdare and Aberaman and Rhydyfelin and 
Hawthorn. We have also commenced flood alleviation work in Treorchy, local drainage 
improvements at Tanycoed Terrace in Abercwmboi, two resilient road schemes in Treherbert 
and completed major culvert upgrades on the A4061 Rhigos Road. A public exhibition has also 
been held on the Tylorstown Landslip Project,  
 
We are also progressing active travel initiatives across Rhondda Cynon Taf including Treorchy 
to Treherbert and those on the Cynon Trail at Cwmbach and Abercynon. We are also identifying 
improvements in crossing facilities adjacent to schools, which in the long term will increase the 
percentage of pupils walking to school, with the consequential improvement in health and well-
being, and help to prevent accidents and reduce traffic movements and vehicle emissions. Maes 
Y Bryn Safe Routes in Communities works have commenced with lighting upgrades on the Public 
Right of Way on approach to the school and the upgrade of the Pelican crossing to a puffin 
crossing on Llantrisant Road. We are also consulting on improvements on Crown Hill to improve 
safety. 
 
Ensuring the County Borough is one of the safest places in Wales, with high levels of 
community cohesion and where residents feel safe 
 
Our community cohesion work is being progressed and are providing opportunities to engage 
through our Community Hubs. A paper relating to Food Resilience was presented to the 
Council’s Cabinet in June highlighting the work offered to residents experiencing food poverty 
and this included the work being done to achieve bronze award status in Sustainable Food 
Places.  We are also establishing a community focussed café in Garth Olwg; Menter Iaith have 
been granted a lease and will be operating the café in the new year.  
 
Our work to prevent anti-social behaviour in town centres continues in partnership with the 
Probation Service and Pobl and includes the relocation of Mill Street Hostel. We are also 
progressing the appointment of Community Wardens to provide a high-profile presence in our 
town centres. Three Community Wardens and two Senior Community Wardens are in post and 
the remaining Community Wardens will be in place in quarter 3.  
  
The Barod Integrated Substance Misuse Service (now including Bridgend) commenced in April 
this year, and we continue to recruit resources to increase resilience in this area.  We have 
improved booking arrangements for substance misuse training and have taken opportunities to 
share good practice wherever possible. We have also provided valuable ‘Overdose Awareness’ 
sessions to local hotel and hostel staff following a rise in local drug related deaths within 
supported accommodation. Additional ’Drop-in’ centres have been developed at Penrhys, to 
nurture community relationships, and for Ukraine nationals to provide harm reduction support 
as required. 
 
Our domestic abuse support provision has been improved with the recruitment of a Health IDVA 
at Royal Glamorgan Hospital, and despite some delays we are still progressing the Oasis 
Centre and Domestic Abuses Services joint working model. The ‘Healthy Relationships’ 
workshops that have been developed will also inform early support for prevention and 
intervention of homeless families housed in temporary accommodation. The commissioning of 
a Regional Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programme (DVPP) across the CTM region is being 
progressed. The pilot is now up and running and an evaluation will be completed by the end of 
2022/23. 

Page 58

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Cabinet/2020/12/18/Reports/Item6ReviewoftheCouncilsResponsetoStormDennis.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/FloodRecsUpdateQtr12223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/April/Section19reportFloodandWaterManagementAct2010%E2%80%93Trehafod.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/April/Section19reportFloodandWaterManagementAct2010%E2%80%93Cwmbach.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/Section19floodreportsrelatingtoAbercwmboiFernhillandPorth.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/ParkingRoadsandTravel/Roadspavementsandpaths/FloodAlleviation/RelatedDocuments/Floodreports/FWMASection19RCT02AberdareAberamanFINAL.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/ParkingRoadsandTravel/Roadspavementsandpaths/FloodAlleviation/RelatedDocuments/Floodreports/FWMASection19RCT15RhydyfelinHawthornFINAL.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/ParkingRoadsandTravel/Roadspavementsandpaths/FloodAlleviation/RelatedDocuments/Floodreports/FWMASection19RCT15RhydyfelinHawthornFINAL.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/WorktobeginonfirstphaseofTreorchyFloodAlleviationScheme.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/LocaldrainageimprovementsatTanycoedTerraceinAberaman.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/LocaldrainageimprovementsatTanycoedTerraceinAberaman.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/September/ResilientRoadsschemeunderwayattwolocationsinTreherbert.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/MajorculvertupgradescompletedatA4061RhigosRoad.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/May/PublicexhibitiononnextphaseoftheTylorstownlandslipproject.aspx
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35297/Food%20Resilience.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.sustainablefoodplaces.org/awards/
https://www.sustainablefoodplaces.org/awards/
https://www.poblgroup.co.uk/
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35298/Cabinet%20-%20Community%20Wardens.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/EmploymentofCommunityWardensteamtobeconsidered.aspx
https://barod.cymru/


21 
 

PLACES - Where people are proud to live, work and play 

 
To keep our communities safe, this quarter we have piloted a ‘Young Friends’ against scams 
(YFAS) awareness training event to children aged 8-12 years at Ysgol Nantgwyn which was 
positively received. We also continue to publish cases where rogue traders have been 
prosecuted on the Council’s website including two cases relating to the sale of counterfeit goods 
at Merthyr Tydfil and Mountain Ash. In addition, a case relating to taxi licencing was also 
published which demonstrates the Council’s commitment to keeping residents safe.  
 
To support the Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Schemes (United Kingdom Resettlement 
Scheme (UKRS), the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy (ARAP) scheme and the 
Widening Dispersal Scheme, we are working with social landlords and tenants to prevent 
instances of  homelessness   the provision of a new Virtual Tenancy Ready Classroom that 
proves information on what to expect when searching for and moving into a new home, tenant 
rights and responsibilities, and where to go for help and support. All information is translated to 
aid understanding. Newydd Housing are also submitting this project for consideration in the 
‘Welsh Housing Awards’. A concert was also held to welcome Ukrainian people residing in the 
County Borough.  
 
Getting the best out of our parks by looking after and investing in our greenspaces 
 
We continue to invest in our green spaces and increase biodiversity. Our Playground 
Investment Programme is also progressing to deliver planned improvements during 2022/23 
with 5 projects completed so far and we continue to improve our digital platforms to provide a 
more accessible service to residents. A ‘Tracks and Trails’ Project has been completed at Dare 
Valley Country Park. We have supported the Keep Britain Tidy - ‘Love Parks Week’ campaign, 
and celebrated retaining Green Flag Awards at Dare Valley Country Park, Aberdare; Taff’s Well 
Park and Ynysangharad War Memorial Park, Pontypridd, in recognition of their excellent visitor 
facilities, high environmental standards, and commitment to delivering great quality green 
spaces. 
 
In June this year, the Council’s 2022-2025 ‘Think Climate RCT’ – Making Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Carbon Neutral by 2030, Climate Change Strategy was agreed by Cabinet with the strategy 
providing a framework to support carbon reduction across both the Council and the County 
Borough.  An associated Decarbonisation Plan to reduce specific carbon reduction elements 
that inform the Council’s Carbon Footprint and meet Welsh Government reporting 
requirements, is in development.  
 
In support of this, work to establish natural carbon storage solutions continues with a 
commissioned Peat Bog study in Cwmparc scheduled shortly, and 3 other potential peatbog 
sites being explored. Connected to this, the Draft RCT Tree, Woodlands and Hedgerow 
Strategy was approved by Cabinet in June 2022. This Strategy recognises the important carbon 
storing role that trees, vegetation and soils have in the ‘carbon cycle’. The Strategy is out for 
consultation until the end of October with residents and stakeholders, more information is 
available in the accompanying press release. 
 
We have promoted our grass cutting schedules and the importance of protecting our designated 
Biodiversity Areas to encourage the growth of wildflowers and attract pollinators. New 
biodiversity signage celebrating biodiversity has been installed at Dare Valley Country Park and 
a signage strategy at Cwm Clydach Country Park is also being developed, and we continue to 
encourage residents to report sightings of wildlife and flora, and take part in activities like ‘Grab 
a Rake’ on the Council’s Biodiversity webpages. Work has also commenced to increase the 
capacity and improve biodiversity at Clydach Vale Lake. 

Page 59

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/April/ProsecutedForSellingCounterfeitGoods.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/April/FinedForSellingCounterfeitGoods.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/TaxiDriverHasLicenceRevoked.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-resettlement-schemes-factsheet-march-2021/vulnerable-persons-and-vulnerable-childrens-resettlement-schemes-factsheet-march-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/afghan-relocations-and-assistance-policy
https://www.newydd.co.uk/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/WestandwithUkraineTodayandEveryday.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/Furtherplayareaimprovementstobedeliveredthisyear.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/June/Furtherplayareaimprovementstobedeliveredthisyear.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/NewTracksAndTrailsOpenAtDareValleyCountryPark.aspx
https://www.keepbritaintidy.org/get-involved/support-our-campaigns/love-parks-week
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/CelebratingLoveParksWeek.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/GreenFlagAwardsForRCTParks.aspx
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35287/Climate%20Change%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35287/Climate%20Change%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35286/Climate%20Change%20Report%20-%20Cabinet%2022%20June%202022.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35302/RCT%20TREE%20WOODLANDS%20AND%20HEDGEROW%20STRATEGY.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35302/RCT%20TREE%20WOODLANDS%20AND%20HEDGEROW%20STRATEGY.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/September/TreeAndWoodlandStrategy%e2%80%93HaveYourSay.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/BiodiversityAcrossOurCountyBorough.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/PlanningandBuildingControl/Countryside/Biodiversity/BiodiversityinRCT.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/ImprovementstoClydachValeLake.aspx


22 
 

PLACES - Where people are proud to live, work and play 

 
Our work with partners such as Natural Resources Wales continues in support of projects like 
‘Healthy Hillsides’ which includes working with South Wales Fire and Rescue on Operation 
Dawns Glaw, a taskforce set up to reduce the number of grass fires. 
 
We continue to progress activity in support of the 2024 National Eisteddfod for Wales. More 
information will be available following the Eisteddfod public meeting later this year. Visit 
Rhondda Cynon Taf also supported National Coach Week 2022. 
 
During this quarter many events have been held in RCT including the Big Welsh Bite at 
Ynysangharad War Memorial Park in August and a variety of free sporting, cultural and play-
based activities and events as part of the Summer of Fun for young people across the County 
Borough. We have also began promotion of our winter activities including the return of Nos 
Galan 2022 and Santa’s Toy Mine at the Rhondda Heritage Park. 
 
The full action plan can be viewed by clicking here 
 
 

  

Page 60

https://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/about-us/news/blog/healthy-hillsides/?lang=en
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/March/WorkingTogetherToProtectOurCountrysideAndCountyBorough.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/March/WorkingTogetherToProtectOurCountrysideAndCountyBorough.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Tourism/TourismBlogNews/BlogPosts/2021/Joinourtourismhubs..aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Tourism/TourismBlogNews/BlogPosts/2021/Joinourtourismhubs..aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/April/Coach-Week-Steers-in-RCT.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/BigWelshBiteReturns.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/SummerOfFunForYoungPeople.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/September/NosGalan2022.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/September/NosGalan2022.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/September/SantasToyMine.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/16.PLACESQtr2.pdf


23 
 

Investment Priority Progress Update – Quarter 2 
 

Progress in our Investment Priorities – PLACES 

Investment Area 
Investment 

Value3 
£M 

Quarter 2 Update 

Highways 
Infrastructure 
Repairs  
 

6.826 
  

The additional resources are being used in conjunction with 
existing resources to deliver a programme of highways 
infrastructure repairs between 2022/23 and 2024/25.  
 

Unadopted 
Roads  

0.600  
 

To support a programme of work to private streets that the 
Council has identified as requiring specific improvements. 
Following completion of the necessary works, the streets will 
be adopted as highways maintainable at public expense. Of 
the 21 streets which are included in the programme, 6 were 
completed as at the end of quarter 2 2022/23, contractors are 
on site for 1 scheme which is ongoing and the remaining 14 
schemes are scheduled to be completed during the year.  
 

Play Areas  
 

0.814 
     

There are 19 schemes which form the planned programme of 
works for 2022/23. As at 30th September 2022, 5 had been 
completed, 2 were under construction, 3 had been designed, 
costed and scheduled and 9 are to be designed.  
 

Skate Parks/Multi 
Use Games 
Areas  

0.391 There are 3 schemes which form the planned programme of 
works for 2022/23 and will be progressed during the year. 
£200k additional investment has been included, as at quarter 
2, in line with the ‘Council Corporate Plan – Investment 
Priorities’ report to full Council (28th September 2022).  
 

Structures: Brook 
Street Footbridge  

2.351 
 
 
  

This funding is supporting the replacement of the footbridge. 
Construction works are progressing well and on programme. 
The old bridge sections have been removed and the new 
bridge sections are due to be lifted in to place in quarter 3.  
 

Structures  3.516 
 

The investment funding has been allocated to support structure 
projects:  
 

• Nant Cwm Parc Cantilever and Institute Bridge 
Strengthening – works complete.  

• Major retaining wall refurbishments - 
o Retaining walls at Brewery Terrace (Pontygwaith), Salem 

Terrace (Llwynypia) and Dinas Road (Dinas) - scheduled 
to go out to tender in quarter 3 2022/23.  

o Maerdy Mountain walls – works complete.  
o High Street Wall, Llantrisant – works being undertaken 

by the Council due to the risk of collapse of the wall.  
 

 

 
3 Investment Value – relates to LIVE projects / works only that have been allocated additional investment 
funding.  

Page 61



24 
 

Progress in our Investment Priorities – PLACES 

Investment Area 
Investment 

Value3 
£M 

Quarter 2 Update 

o Harcourt Terrace Wall, Penrhiwceiber - works being 
completed by Transport for Wales as part of a jointly 
funded project with the Council.  
 

• Llanharan Railway Footbridge - works recommenced on site 
following licence / Natural Resources Wales approvals and . 
piling is scheduled to commence in quarter 3.  

• Imperial Bridge – works commenced on site in April 2022 and 
are scheduled for completion in quarter 3.  

• Bodringallt Bridge Infilling – delays due to the need to 
consider drainage position.  

• Rhigos Rock Anchors – scheduled to go to tender in quarter 
3.  

• Various inspections and surveys continue to be undertaken 
as advance preparation for future schemes. 
 

Parks Structures  0.730  
 
 
 

The investment funding has been allocated to support various 
footbridge repairs and replacements within Parks:  
 
• Gelli Isaf – Scheduled Monument Conservation Scheme –

works have commenced on site for Phase 1 of the repairs. 

• Pentre Footbridge - works complete. 

• Rhondda Heritage Park Wall - scheduled to go to tender in 
quarter 3.  

• Various inspections and surveys continue to be undertaken 
as advance preparation for future schemes.  

 

Parks and Green 
Spaces  

2.755 This investment funding is supporting drainage, pavilion and 
infrastructure improvements to various parks sites. The 
2022/23 programme comprises of 72 schemes and, as at 
quarter 2, 24 full schemes have been completed. The 
remaining schemes will be progressed during 2022/23 as part 
of an on-going programme of work. An additional £230k has 
been included, as at quarter 2, in line with the ‘Council 
Corporate Plan – Investment Priorities’ report to full Council 
(28th September 2022).  
 

Llanharan 
Link Road  
 

5.558 
 

This investment funding is supporting various stages of 
development, preliminary design, ground investigations and 
ecology surveys. Following the Pre-Planning Application 
Consultation (PAC) which took place in 2021, work is 
progressing to prepare all documentation in readiness for a full 
planning application which is to be submitted in the last half of 
the financial year. This scheme is also subject to the Welsh 
Government’s Roads Review. 
 
 

Page 62



25 
 

Progress in our Investment Priorities – PLACES 

Investment Area 
Investment 

Value3 
£M 

Quarter 2 Update 

A4119 Dualling 
(Stinkpot Hill) 

 

7.035 
 
 
 

This investment funding is supporting the dualling of the 
highway between the South Wales Fire Service Headquarters 
roundabout and Coed Ely roundabout. Following on from 
advanced works, the appointed contractor commenced the 
main construction works in August setting up the traffic 
management arrangements and has carried out site clearance 
works.  
 

Community Hubs   
 

0.190 
 

Works are being planned for the foyer area of the Park & Dare 
which forms part of The Hub and external funding opportunities 
are also being explored.  

 

Gelli/Treorchy 
Link Road  
 

0.393 
 

This investment funding relates to investigatory works for a 
solution which will help alleviate congestion at Stag Square.  
Feasibility and a WelTAG stage 1 has been completed and is 
in the process of review to inform WelTAG stage 2. 
 

Cynon Gateway 
(North)  
 

1.551 
 

This investment funding relates to the preliminary design, 
planning application and tender preparation for a link road from 
A4059 Aberdare to join the A465 Heads Of the Valleys road. 
Following receipt of planning permission, work is ongoing to 
procure a designer for the detailed design stage of the project. 
This scheme is also subject to the Welsh Government’s Roads 
Review. 
 

Bryn Pica Eco 
Park 
 

1.286 This investment funding is to support enabling works, planning 
and ecology for the development of an Eco Park at the Bryn 
Pica Waste Management Facility. Discussions are on-going 
with Welsh Government in respect of funding opportunities.  
 

Streetcare  
(New scheme)  

0.020 
 

This investment funding is to be used across the County 
Borough to replace worn/damaged bins (mainly dog bins). The 
bins will be ordered in quarter 3 and will be installed as 
necessary before the end of the financial year. The additional 
funding has been included, as at quarter 2, in line with the 
‘Council Corporate Plan – Investment Priorities’ report to full 
Council (28th September 2022). 
 

Porth 
Interchange 
Metro + LTF 

 

-- As set out in the Porth Regeneration Strategy, a new Transport 
Hub in the Town Centre is currently under construction, funded 
by UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund, WG Local Transport 
Fund and Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (total project costs 
£5.4M). During quarter 2, the roofing panels were installed and 
works continued in line with the construction schedule.  The 
construction is due to complete in March 2023. 
 
 

Page 63



26 
 

Progress in our Investment Priorities – PLACES 

Investment Area 
Investment 

Value3 
£M 

Quarter 2 Update 

Leisure – Darran 
Park 3G Pitch 
(New scheme)  

0.175 This investment funding is to develop the Astro Turf Pitch in 
Darran Park (Ferndale) into a 3G pitch. The additional funding 
has been included, as at quarter 2, in line with the ‘Council 
Corporate Plan – Investment Priorities’ report to full Council 
(28th September 2022). 
 
 

Total 34.191  

 
  

Page 64



27 
 

• PROSPERITY (Section 5c) 
 

PROSPERITY - Creating the opportunity for people and businesses to: be innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential and prosper  

Summary of progress to 30th September 2022 

Investing in our town centres, bringing jobs and homes into our town centres to create 

vibrant, thriving places people wish to live, work and socialise 

A range of support is available through the Council to support business growth and expansion in 

town centres, including the Enterprise Investment Fund and Town Centre Maintenance Grant. Given 

the current economic challenges these will be reviewed to ensure that the most appropriate mix of 

support is available to help businesses to navigate these challenges and take advantage of emerging 

opportunities such as digital trading opportunities. Services continue to work closely with business 

representatives such as Business Improvement Districts to inform this work, and the development of 

a Business Engagement Strategy. Work is also continuing to improve the accessibility of Council 

tenders to local Small and Medium Sized Enterprises through improved communication and 

consideration of lotting structures. 

A new three year programme of funding for town centre property improvements has become 

available through the Welsh Government Transforming Towns fund and the identified pipeline of 

potential improvement projects in our town centres has been shared with Welsh Government officials 

as a basis for endorsement for funding. This will set the scene for our improvement programme over 

the next three years. An application for a programme of project delivery has been made and a 

decision is expected in quarter 3. Existing town centre projects are continue to progress, including 

the Porth Transport Hub, and work is now underway at the Pontypridd Southern Gateway where 

property acquisition for redevelopment has taken place at the Bingo Hall and former M&S sites. A 

package of town centre improvement projects for Aberdare is currently being developed to form part 

of the draft regeneration strategy for engagement and consultation. Rhondda Housing Association 

Wales are delivering 13 affordable apartments in Tonypandy town centre to regenerate a town centre 

site where the previous building was damaged by fire, following the Council providing funding through 

Welsh Government’s Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme for demolition work at the site. 

Delivering major regeneration and transportation schemes, maximising the impact of the 

South Wales Metro, to create better places to live and work, whilst protecting and enhancing 

the County Borough 

Preparation continues for the revised Local Development Plan, which will contain strategic level 

policies on land use and protection including carbon reduction and climate change. A second call for 

candidate sites was undertaken to identify locations suitable for potential development and further 

engagement with key stakeholders and analysis of detailed evidence has also taken place.   

Working with Cardiff Capital Region, we continue to progress Housing viability gap funding to 

remediate contaminated land conditions across 3 brownfield sites at the former Cwm Coking works, 

former Aberdare hospital site and Heol y Wenallt. A planning application has been submitted for the 

Aberdare site and an application is due to be submitted for Heol y Wenallt shortly; decisions on these 

adjoining sites are likely to be considered simultaneously. An £8 million package is close to being 

agreed with a housing developer and Cardiff Capital Region City Deal to remediate the site at Cwm 

Coking. 

Following a public exhibition, work began onsite to deliver the A4119 Coed Ely dualling scheme which 

will also provide a separate community route. A planning application for the Llanharan bypass is due 

Page 65

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/AffordableapartmentstobebuiltinTonypandytowncentre.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/CallforCandidatesitesstageofRevisedLocalDevelopmentPlan.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/July/CallforCandidatesitesstageofRevisedLocalDevelopmentPlan.aspx
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/news-events/latest-news/new-fund-set-to-unlock-stalled-housing-sites-for-development/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/MajorLandmarkForA4119DuallingSchemeWithTheStartOfWorks.aspx


28 
 

PROSPERITY - Creating the opportunity for people and businesses to: be innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential and prosper  

to be submitted in quarter 4. Tender documents have also been prepared for the Cynon Gateway 

North scheme, but this will be impacted by the Welsh Government Roads Review decision. 

Work continues with broadband suppliers and Welsh Government to improve connectivity within the 

County Borough, although there are some delays to planned timescales due to Welsh Government 

tenders.   

Work continues to develop the visitor economy, with considerable marketing and promotional activity 

this autumn. Zip World Tower have been supported in their new Tower Climber project and work 

continues to support the organisation of the National Eisteddford of Wales 2024. Work is ongoing to 

progress opportunities for cross promotion at our Valleys Regional Park Discovery Gateway sites. 

Ensuring we have good schools so all children have access to a great Education 

Work continues in partnership with Central South Consortium to regularly review the progress of all 

schools. The introduction of all school review meetings is helpfully contributing to this work and the 

information provided is being used to inform further action. A Team Around the School protocol has 

been agreed for schools requiring co-ordinated LA/CSC support and will be piloted in the autumn 

term. Strategies being developed for the Curriculum for Wales are due to be operational from the 

next academic year, and CSC has ensured that its work programme will enable updates on progress 

for this area to be captured appropriately.  The impact of Covid-19 on learner progress continues to 

be a key area for Improvement Partners to review and capture, and local data is being collated by 

CSC. However, there is currently no agreed national approach to how schools are mapping learner 

progress. A report has been produced on the impact of Family Engagement Officers and an 

evaluation of Step 4 provision was produced in January, with proposals for tranche 3 underway. Final 

reporting on Step 4 projects will be undertaken in the autumn term, with schools required to present 

impact of the work undertaken. A good practice conference for Step 4 also took place in the summer 

term.   

The Writing Project, a commissioned literacy project aimed at improving standards of writing in 

primary and secondary schools, has been rolled out and a CSC report produced outlining the impact 

of the project to date.  

Work continues to ensure effective anti-bullying strategies in our schools. Presentations have been 

delivered to primary and secondary Headteacher meetings to raise awareness of peer-on-peer 

sexual harassment and guidance has been provided to all schools.  Improvements have been made 

to data collection systems to ensure all incidents of bullying are appropriately recorded; however, 

due to concerns raised over low rates of reporting by incidents, a bullying survey has been piloted 

and will be undertaken in all secondary schools in November to gather data directly from pupils.  An 

anti-racism plan has been completed in consultation with the RCT BAME working group and is now 

being implemented.  

Support continues for schools to implement new ALN legislation, including development of a 

professional learning programme for release in the autumn term, and review of schools self- 

evaluation. An Early years ALN coordinator forum has been established and met in September. Work 

has commenced between the Council, schools and early years settings to enhance transition from 

early years settings into schools for children with additional learning needs. Following agreement of 

a protocol of roles and responsibilities, a pilot is being undertaken. A pilot is also underway to 

evaluate an enhanced post-16 transition protocol for learners with additional learning needs. An 

update on implementation of the ALNET Act was presented to Cabinet in September.  

Page 66

https://www.zipworld.co.uk/adventure/tower-climber
https://eisteddfod.wales/2024
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36045/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36979/Report.pdf?LLL=0


29 
 

PROSPERITY - Creating the opportunity for people and businesses to: be innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential and prosper  

An Early Years Strategic Plan has been produced to ensure all learners have access to the right 

support. Engagement and consultation on the strategy and supporting action plan will be undertaken 

in the second half of the autumn term.  

Investment in our school buildings continues. Band B project Business cases have been submitted 

to Welsh Government in accordance with the Strategic outline programme. Works on site are close 

to completion to provide additional capacity at YG Rhydwaun and YGG Aberdar, with minor snagging 

only remaining. A number of other projects commenced over the summer holidays and autumn term 

for the Welsh medium Primary School, Rhydyfelin; Pontypridd High; Hawthorn High; Pontyclun 

Primary School; Penygawsi Primary School; Llanilltud Faerdref Primary School; and Bryncelynnog 

Comprehensive. All new build elements will be net zero carbon in operation. An update on current 

special school provision was reported to Cabinet on 26th September 2022.  

Increase the number of quality homes available and affordable to provide greater housing 

choice for residents 

The Council is working in partnership with Registered Social Landlords to increase the supply of 

energy efficient, low carbon homes. 17 schemes in the social housing grant programme development 

plan are categorised as ‘new build – modern methods of construction’. Rhondda Housing Association 

Wales’ Skyline project has continued with progress following the Social Housing Grant submission. 

The sale of Porth Infants School to Cynon Taf Community Housing Group has now been complete. 

Cynon Taf Community Housing Group have made a Social Housing Grant submission and a planning 

application has been submitted. 

The Council worked with Rhondda Housing Association to deliver redevelopment of Abertonllwyd 

House in Treherbert which was previously empty for several years into supported accommodation.  

Following research into best practice, the allocation of extra care provision via the social housing 

allocation policy has been approved and information is being updated to inform homefinder 

applicants about the extra care offer.  

The rapid rehousing plan, which develops a housing led approach for rehousing people who have 

experienced homelessness, where possible reducing or removing the need for temporary 

accommodation, was approved by Cabinet on 18th July. Work continues to develop the new Empty 

Homes Strategy and a Private Rented Sector strategy, which will both be presented to Cabinet later 

in this financial year.  

There will be a broad offer of skills and employment programmes for all ages 

Support for people seeking work continued through our Employment Support programmes. Between 

April and September 2022, over 20% of those supported into work through the Communities for Work 

Plus scheme had work limiting health conditions and disabilities, the highest proportion to date. 

Council staff continue to engage with Welsh Government to review future priorities and national 

funding arrangements. Proposals for a new employment support grant to be confirmed in Quarter 3. 

Links have been made between employment and youth services to provide support and training for 

identified young people leaving school with no destination for work, study or training through the 

Welsh Government Youth Guarantee Grant fund scheme, with an increase in the numbers of young 

people engaged on the scheme. As part of the expansion of employment routes for 16 – 24 year 

olds, planning has taken place for the ‘Black sheep’ programme, a construction skills course aimed 

at young people with a variety of learning needs. 

Page 67

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/RCTInvestProgramme/Schools/SchoolsInvestmentProgramme21stCenturySchools/OngoingProjects/YsgolGyfunRhydywaun.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/SchoolsandLearning/Schoolsinvestment21stCenturySchools/CompletedProjects/YGGAberd%C3%A2r.aspx
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36976/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36976/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/SocialHousingGrantSchemeAbertonllwydHouse.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/SocialHousingGrantSchemeAbertonllwydHouse.aspx
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36036/Appendix%204.pdf?LLL=0


30 
 

PROSPERITY - Creating the opportunity for people and businesses to: be innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential and prosper  

20 new graduate and 45 new apprentices have started their careers at the Council. 4 people with 

learning disabilities commenced Gateway to employment placements in September and 7 young 

people are currently engaged on Access to Employment, a 12 month programme for young people 

with barriers to employment who have been identified as having high potential. The Council and 

partner organisations also held a careers fair with over 50 organisations taking part, showcasing 

opportunities at the Council, partners and a range of RCT businesses and with careers advice and 

guidance available from a range of training and education providers. 

We also continue to provide more informal learning opportunities to engage people in learning and 

support wellbeing. A series of family learning engagement programmes is being developed in 

targeted communities, with courses in Penrhys and Pontygwaith primary schools starting at the end 

of September.  

The full action plan can be viewed by clicking here 
 

  

Page 68

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/JobsgaloreatRCTCouncilandPartnersCareersFair2022.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/17.PROSPERITYQ2.pdf


31 
 

Investment Priority Progress Update – Quarter 2 

 
 

Progress in our Investment Priorities – PROSPERITY 

Investment 
Area 

Investment 
Value4 

£M 
Quarter 2 Update 

Empty 
Property 
Grant  

2.213 79 applications received, 56 surveyed, 25 approved and 14 
completed. The Council’s funding allocation is now fully committed 
and the on-line application process has closed. 
 

Schools  3.103 
 

 

This investment funding is supporting:  
 

• YGG Llyn Y Forwyn Primary (transferring the school to a new 
building on a new site) - site investigation surveys have been 
undertaken, land has been purchased, project / cost managers 
have been appointed to support delivery of the scheme and a 
Design and Build contractor has been appointed to undertake 
the land reclamation works and construct a new Primary 
school. A strategy is being developed for the reclamation 
works and the design development for the school is on-going. 
Welsh Government have approved the Outline Business Case 
and the scheme can now progress to Full Business Case.  
 

• Other works (as approved by Cabinet 21st March 2022) - toilet 
refurbishments (£0.300M), boiler replacements (£0.700M), 
roof renewals (£1.445M) and classroom upgrades (£0.126M) 
– the majority of works were completed during the 2022 
summer holidays and the remainder will be programmed for 
2023/24.  

 

Transport 
Infrastructure  

2.118 
  

This investment funding is supporting a wider programme of 
highways capital works including:  
 

• Progressing design work for pedestrian crossing enhancement 
projects at Groesfaen, Llanharan and Ty Nant (to improve road 
safety and promote active travel) – all projects are scheduled 
for construction in quarter 4 2022/23. Tonyrefail crossing was 
installed in Quarter 2.  

• A4059 / Bowls Club junction - feasibility study completed to 
investigate junction / traffic flow improvements along the A4059. 
The options will be considered and the preferred option taken 
forward to preliminary design. 

• A4059 Quarter Mile junction, feasibility proposals have been 
developed - the next steps will be preliminary design including 
ground investigation work. 

 

Park and 
Ride 
Programme  

0.529 
 
 

This investment funding is supporting the development work 
needed to create additional and formalised ‘park and ride’ car 
parking spaces with new and improved facilities such as Access 

 
4 Investment Value – relates to LIVE projects / works only that have been allocated additional investment 
funding.  

Page 69



32 
 

Progress in our Investment Priorities – PROSPERITY 

Investment 
Area 

Investment 
Value4 

£M 
Quarter 2 Update 

 for All, improved CCTV coverage and Electric Vehicle charging 
points at:  

• Pontyclun - feasibility design to improve an existing facility is 
ongoing in partnership with Network Rail and Transport for 
Wales.   

• Porth – phase 3 detailed design work has been completed.  
 

Drainage 
(New 
Scheme) 

1.000 
 

This investment funding is supporting drainage and culvert 
network works. The ongoing programme includes: design and 
business case developments at 3 locations; design and works 
construction at 5 locations; and delivering, as match funding 
contributions, 21 Welsh Government grant funded schemes 
across the County Borough. The additional funding has been 
included, as at quarter 2, in line with the ‘Council Corporate Plan 
– Investment Priorities’ report to full Council (28th September 
2022). 
 
 

Robertstown 
and Coed Ely 
ERDF Match 
Funding  
 

4.200 • Robertstown – good progress continues to be made in Quarter 
2 with most of the units now complete and snagging works 
taking place. Works are continuing to the external areas.  
 

• Coed Ely – scheme completed and the tenant occupied the 
premises from July 2021.  
 

Total 13.163   

 
 
Section 6 – ENHANCING THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO EXTREME WEATHER 
EVENTS  
 
The 18th December 2020 Cabinet meeting agreed a series of recommendations to enhance  
the Council’s short and long term response to extreme weather events and which limit the  
impact of flooding on those communities most at risk.  
 
The progress made by Council Services to implement the recommendations can be viewed 
here and will be scrutinised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 
 
Section 7 –The Council’s response to tackling Climate Change   
 
On 22nd June 2022, following engagement with residents and communities, Cabinet agreed 
its response to tackling Climate Change in a wide-ranging Climate Change Strategy – ‘Think 
Climate RCT’. Cabinet also agreed that the monitoring of the Strategy is included in the 
Council’s quarterly Performance Reports and thereafter scrutinised by the Climate Change, 
Frontline Services and Prosperity Scrutiny Committee.  
 

Page 70

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=50001464&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/18.FloodRecsUpdateQtr22223.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/QtrlyPerfRpt2223/Qtr22223/18.FloodRecsUpdateQtr22223.pdf
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=50004165&Ver=4&LLL=0


33 
 

The Climate Change Strategy contains a series of actions which are being developed to 
mitigate and adapt to the impact of Climate Change and to take steps that will reduce our 
Carbon Footprint and enable the Council to meet its ambitious targets by 2030, i.e.: 
 

• Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council will be a Carbon Neutral Council;  

• Rhondda Cynon Taf will be as close to Carbon Neutral as possible; and  

• Rhondda  Cynon Taf will have contributed to the Welsh Government’s ambition of a Net 
Zero Public Sector.   

 
Detailed plans that affect all services across the Council, structured around the Corporate 
Plan priorities, and a Decarbonisation Plan to support the reduction of the Council’s Carbon 
Footprint are in development. Key updates include:  
 

• On 29 September 2022, the Climate Change, Frontline Services and Prosperity Scrutiny 
Committee considered reports on the Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy Implementation 
Plan and Green Waste Collections; and  

• The Climate Change Cabinet Sub Committee at its meeting on 3 October 2022 received 
reports on the Council’s Carbon Footprint Dashboard; Proposed Solar Farm; Energy 
Projects progress including Electric Charging; the Local Nature Plan for Rhondda Cynon 
Taf; and Peatlands in RCT.   

 
This will be an on-going programme of work and progress updates will be incorporated within 
quarterly Performance Reports.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

********************* 

Page 71

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/ClimateChangeStrategy/FINAL5152541ClimateChangeStrategy2022ENGLISH.pdf
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=403&MId=50004303&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=403&MId=50004303&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=376&MId=50004388&Ver=4&LLL=0


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 Corporate Parenting Board Annual Report 2021-2022
	Appendix 1

	4 Council Performance Report
	6 Corporate Asset Management Plan 2018-2023 Interim Update
	Appendix 2


